CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND NOTES
105 — 238

106 — Auditor’s Report
116 — Consolidated Income Statement for 2022
117 — Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for 2022
118 — Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 2022
120 — Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for 2022
122 — Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
123 — Basis of Preparation and Accounting Policies
141 — Segment Reporting
146 — Notes to the Income Statement
156 — Notes to the Statement of Financial Position
193 — Supplementary Information on the Financial Position
212 — Other Information
229 — Oil and Gas Reserve Estimation and Disclosures (unaudited)

238 — Executive Board




OMV ANNUAL REPORT 2022 / FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Auditor’s Report!

Report on the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Audit Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of

OMV Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna,

and of its subsidiaries (the Group) comprising the con-
solidated statement of financial position as of Decem-
ber 31, 2022, the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year
then ended and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements except for "Oil and Gas Reserve Estimation
and Disclosures (unaudited)".

Based on our audit the accompanying consolidated fi-
nancial statements were prepared in accordance with
the legal regulations and present fairly, in all material
respects, the assets and the financial position of the
Group as of December 31, 2022 and its financial per-
formance for the year then ended in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by EU, and the additional requirements un-
der Section 245a Austrian Company Code (UGB).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the regula-
tion (EU) no. 537/2014 (in the following "EU regulation")
and in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that we comply with Interna-
tional Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities
under those regulations and standards are further de-
scribed in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements" section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the Austrian General Accepted Accounting Princi-
ples and professional requirements and we have ful-
filled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evi-
dence we have obtained until the date of this auditor’s
report is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion by this date.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our profes-
sional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the fiscal
year. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We considered the following matters as key audit mat-
ters for our audit:

Deconsolidation and valuation of investments in
Russia

The impact of climate change and the energy
transition on the financial statements
Recoverability of equity-accounted investments
Recoverability of intangible exploration and evalu-
ation (E&E) assets

Estimation of oil and gas reserves

Valuation of provision for decommissioning and
restoration obligations

! This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely valid. Publication or sharing with third parties of the consolidated financial statements
together with our auditor's opinion is only allowed if the consolidated financial statements and the directors’ report for the Group are identical with the German
audited version. This audit opinion is only applicable to the German and complete consolidated financial statements with the directors’ report for the Group. Sec-
tion 281 paragraph 2 UGB (Austrian Company Code) applies to alternated versions.
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Key Audit Matter

Deconsolidation and valuation investments in
Russia

The attack of Russia on Ukraine and countersanctions
announced by Russia have significant impact on assets
related to OMV'’s prior core region Russia.

OMV is represented in Russia by an interest in the Yu-
zhno-Russkoye gas field. The gas is produced by the
operator and the license holder, OJSC Severneftegaz-
prom (SNGP), in which OMV holds 24.99% interest.
The interest in SNGP was accounted for at equity until
February 28, 2022. The gas is sold through the trading
company JSC GAZPROM YRGM Development
(YRGM), in which OMV holds one preferred share enti-
tling OMV to a dividend of 99.99% of the total net profit.
Up to February 28, 2022, YRGM was fully consolidated
because all its activities were predetermined and OMV
was fully exposed to the variability of returns. Due to
the Russian countersanctions, which have an impact
on the operation of foreign companies in Russia, OMV
lost power to receive dividends from YRGM which led
to the loss of control over YRGM and the loss of signifi-
cant influence over SNGP.

OMV has ceased to fully consolidate YRGM and to eq-
uity account for SNGP in the consolidated financial
statements. Starting March 1, 2022, the investments in
SNGP and YRGM are accounted for at fair value
through profit or loss according to IFRS 9. This change
led to a loss of EUR 658 mn.

As of December 31, 2022, the fair value of the invest-
ments in YRGM and SNGP was further decreased to a
book value of EUR 23 mn, leading to an additional loss
of EUR 370 mn.

The remaining fair value of both investments has been
estimated using a DCF model considering the produc-
tion profile, expected gas prices and production costs,
as well as an illiquidity discount.

The financial asset which is related to the reserves re-
determination right out of the acquisition of the interest
in the Yuzhno-Russkoye field in 2017 was fully written
off with a fair value loss of EUR 432 mn.

The principal risk relates to management’s assumption
of losing control over YRGM and significant influence
over SNGP, the recoverability of the remaining fair
value of these two financial instruments as well as the
valuation of the reserves redetermination right.

OMV Group’s disclosures about the impact of Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine and the related significant assump-
tions and estimates are included in Note 2 (Accounting
policies, judgements and estimates).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We assessed management’s assumptions and esti-
mates.

Specifically, our work included, but was not limited to,
the following procedures:

Assess the criteria applied by OMV in determining
the loss of control resp. significant influence over
YRGM and SNGP;

Inquire OMV’s executive board, legal department
and gas trading management;

Assess the design and implementation of controls
related to estimating the key assumptions used in
the calculation of the fair value of the investments
and financial asset, such as estimated reserves and
production profile, future gas prices and production
costs;

Evaluate OMV'’s assessment of production profile,
future gas prices and production costs, as well as
the illiquidity discount used for the fair value calcu-
lation with external data where available;

Assess OMV’s gas reserves assumptions which led
to a financial asset related to the reserves redeter-
mination right and assess the subsequent write off;
Involve our valuation specialists to assist us in the
analysis of discount rates and inflation rates;

Test the mathematical accuracy of fair value calcu-
lation;

Reading of information in the director’s report (strat-
egy and OMV Group Business Year) and consider
its consistency with the assumptions used by man-
agement; and

Assess the adequacy of the disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements.
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Key Audit Matter

The impact of climate change and the energy tran-
sition on the financial statements

Climate change and energy transition impact many ar-
eas of accounting estimates and judgements.

The risk is that accounting estimates and judgement do
not properly reflect the impact of material climate
change and energy transition.

As included in Note 2 (Accounting policies, judgements
and estimates) to the financial statements, OMV has
considered the short- and long-term effects of climate
change and energy transition in preparing the consoli-
dated financial statements.

The note also explains that IFRS’s requires the use of
assumptions that represent management’s current best
estimate of the range of expected future economic con-
ditions, which may differ from company ambitions and
public climate targets.

OMV’s management has established for its mid-term
plan assumptions a base case scenario, which is used
for estimates in various areas of the Financial State-
ments, including amongst others impairment of assets,
useful lives and decommissioning provision. The base
case scenario considers that OECD countries will
achieve the net zero emissions goal between 2050 and
2070 (equivalent to a path between the International
Energy Agency (IEA) “net zero emissions” (NZE) and
“sustainable development” (SDS) scenarios) and non-
OECD countries will implement all announced decar-
bonization pledges in full and on time (equivalent to the
IEA “announced pledges scenario” (APS)).

As part of the sensitivity analysis over the recoverability
of assets and valuation of decommissioning provisions,
OMYV performed a stress test analysis, using a decar-
bonization scenario which is built on a path between
the IEA SDS and IEA NZE scenarios.

An additional sensitivity has been performed for as-
sessing the recoverability of the oil and gas assets in
the E&P segment using the Net Zero Emissions by
2050 scenario which was modeled by the IEA and
shows a pathway for the global energy sector to
achieve net zero CO2 emissions by 2050.

OMV Group’s disclosures about the impact of climate
change and energy transition on the financial state-
ments, including sensitivities due to the stress test
analysis, are included in Note 2 (Accounting policies,
judgements and estimates).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We evaluated management’s key assumptions related
to climate change and energy transition risks and how it
impacted the critical accounting estimates and judge-
ments on different areas of the financial statements.

Specifically, our work included, but was not limited to,
the following procedures:

Assess the design and implementation of controls
in the estimation processes, with a focus on how
the impact of climate change and energy transition
was considered for the key assumptions;

Analyse with those responsible for group strategy
and group reporting OMV’s view on the impact of
climate change and energy transition on key as-
sumptions used in the base case scenario and
stress test analysis;

Reading of information in the director’s report (strat-
egy and sustainability) and consider its consistency
with the assumptions used by management when
preparing its energy transition base case scenario
and stress test analysis;

Assessing OMV’s mapping of the impact of climate
change and energy transition risks into accounting
estimates and judgements included in the financial
statements;

Evaluate OMV'’s assessment of key assumptions
(oil and gas price, CO2 price, refining and petro-
chemical margins and cracks, power prices and
spreads, volume development) used in the base
case comparing it to external market data and other
resources where available; and

Assess the adequacy of the disclosures made in
the financial statements regarding the impact of cli-
mate change and energy transition, including the
sensitivities due to the stress test analysis and net
zero emissions scenario analysis in Note 2 (Ac-
counting policies, judgements and estimates).
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Key Audit Matter
Recoverability of equity-accounted investments

As of December 31, 2022, the carrying value of equity-
accounted investments amounted to EUR 7,294 mn
(after a write-up of EUR 67 mn for Abu Dhabi Oil Refin-
ing Company).

The assessment of the recoverability of the carrying
amount of equity-accounted investments requires
judgement in assessing whether there is an indication
that the investment should be impaired or there is an
indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior
periods may no longer exist or may have decreased
and in measuring any such impairment or reversal.

For the equity-accounted investment Abu Dhabi Oil Re-
fining Company, registered in Abu Dhabi, indicators
were identified that the impairment of EUR 669 mn rec-
ognized in the previous year decreased. The test of the
recoverable amount performed by the management led
to a reversal of previous impairment at the amount of
EUR 67 mn.

The principal risk relates to management’s estimates of

future margin assumptions, production volumes, cash
flows and discount rates, which are used to project the
recoverability.

OMV Group’s disclosures about equity-accounted in-
vestments and the impairment testing related hereto
are included in Note 2 (Accounting policies, judgements
and estimates), Note 7 (Depreciation, amortization, im-
pairments and write-ups) and Note 16 (Equity-ac-
counted investments).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We assessed management’s assessment of the recov-
erability of the carrying value of equity-accounted in-
vestments by evaluating if and how management deter-
mines a need of impairment or reversing a previous im-
pairment. Where testing the recoverable amount was
required, we evaluated management’s assumptions.

Specifically, our work included, but was not limited to,
the following procedures:

Assess the design and implementation of the con-
trols in the valuation process;

Review and evaluation of management’s assess-
ment of the existence of impairment indicators or in-
dicators that impairments recognized in prior peri-
ods may have decreased,;

Assess the determination of cash generating units;
Reconcile the assumptions used within the future
cash flow models to approved budgets and busi-
ness plans;

Check the mathematical accuracy of the cash flow
models;

Compare of cash flow projections with external
market data and other available external sources;
Involve our valuation specialists for analyzing of the
discount-, exchange- and growth rates and as-
sessing the valuation models;

Assess the historical accuracy of management’s
budgets and forecasts by comparing them to actual
performance and to prior year;

Review of management’s sensitivity analysis over
key assumptions and perform additional own sensi-
tivity analysis in order to assess the impact of pos-
sible changes of assumptions on the recoverability;
and

Assess the adequacy of the disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements.
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Key Audit Matter

Recoverability of intangible exploration and evalua-
tion (E&E) assets

The carrying value of intangible E&E assets amounted
to EUR 878 mn at December 31, 2022, after an impair-
ment loss of EUR 183 mn in 2022.

Under IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Min-
eral Resources, exploration and evaluation assets shall
be assessed for impairment when facts and circum-
stances suggest that the carrying value of an explora-
tion and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable
amount.

The assessment of the carrying value requires man-
agement to apply judgement and estimates in as-
sessing whether any impairment has arisen at year
end, and in quantifying any such impairment.

The principal risks relate to the assessment of manage-
ment’s intention to proceed with a future work program
for a prospect or licence, the likelihood of licence re-
newal, and the success of drilling and geological analy-
sis to date. In addition, the recoverability of exploration

and evaluation assets may also be impacted by climate
risk and energy transition as described in the key audit
matter above.

OMV Group’s disclosures about intangible E&E assets
and related impairment testing are included in Note 2
(Accounting policies, judgements and estimates),

Note 7 (Depreciation, amortization, impairments and
write-ups), Note 8 (Exploration expenses) and Note 14
(Intangible assets).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We evaluated management’s assessment of the carry-
ing value of intangible E&E assets performed with ref-
erence to the criteria of IFRS 6 and the Group’s ac-
counting policy.

Specifically, our work included, but was not limited to,
the following procedures:

Inquire whether management has the intention to
carry out exploration and evaluation activity in the
relevant exploration area which included the review
of management’s budget and discussions with sen-
ior management as to the intentions and strategy of
the Group;

Read Executive Board minutes of meetings and
consider whether there were negative indicators
that certain projects might be unsuccessful;
Discuss with management about the status of the
largest exploration projects;

Assess whether the Group has the ability to finance
any planned future exploration and evaluation activ-
ity;

Identify the existence of oil and gas fields where the
Group’s right to explore is either at, or close to, ex-
piry and review management’s assessment
whether there are any risks related to renewal of
the license;

Review of management’s assumptions where an
E&E asset has been impaired and review of the val-
uation;

Assess the adequacy of the disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements; and

The procedures described in the key audit matter
regarding climate change and energy transition
above.




OMV ANNUAL REPORT 2022 / FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Key Audit Matter
Estimation of oil and gas reserves

Oil and gas reserves are an indicator of the future po-
tential of the group’s performance. They have an im-
pact on the financial statements as they are the basis
for production profiles in future cash flow estimates, de-
preciation, amortization and impairment charges.

The estimation of oil and gas reserves requires judge-
ment and assumptions made by management and en-
gineers due to the technical uncertainty in assessing
guantities.

The principal risk of the oil and gas reserves estimate is
the impact on the group’s financial statements through
impairment testing, depreciation & amortization and de-
commissioning provision estimate.

OMV Group’s disclosures about oil and gas reserves
and related impairment testing are included in Note 2
(Accounting policies, judgements and estimates),
Note 7 (Depreciation, amortization, impairments and
write-ups), Note 9 (Other operating expenses) and
Note 23 (Provisions).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures have focused on management’s esti-
mation process in the determination of oil and gas re-
serves.

Specifically, our work included, but was not limited to,
the following procedures:

Walkthrough and understand the Group’s process
and controls associated with the oil and gas re-
serves estimation process;

Test controls of the oil and gas reserves review pro-
cess;

Analysis of the internal certification process for
technical and commercial specialists who are re-
sponsible for oil and gas reserves estimation;
Assess the competence of both internal and exter-
nal specialists and the objectivity and independ-
ence of external specialists, to consider whether
they were appropriately qualified to carry out the
estimation of oil and gas reserves;

Analyse the latest reports of DeGolyer and Mac-
Naughton (D&M) on their reviews performed in
2022 of the group’s estimated oil and gas reserves
in Tunisia, Malaysia and the Kurdistan Region of
Irag;

Test whether significant additions or reductions in
oil and gas reserves were made in the period in
which the new information became available and in
compliance with Group’s Reserves and Resources
Guidelines;

Test that the updated oil and gas reserve estimates
were included appropriately in the Group’s consid-
eration of impairment and in accounting for depreci-
ation & amortization; and

Assess the adequacy of the disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements.
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Key Audit Matter

Valuation of provision for decommissioning and
restoration obligations

The total provision for decommissioning and restoration
obligations amounted to EUR 3,796 mn at December
31, 2022.

Group’s core activities regularly lead to obligations re-
lated to dismantling and removal, asset retirement and
soil remediation activities.

The principal risk relates to management’s estimates of
future costs, discount rates and inflation rates, which
are used to project the provision for decommissioning
and restoration obligations. In addition, the valuation of
provision for decommissioning and restoration obliga-
tions may also be impacted by climate risk and energy
transition as described in the key audit matter above.

OMV Group’s disclosures about the provision for de-
commissioning and restoration obligations are included
in Note 2 (Accounting policies, judgements and esti-
mates) and Note 23 (Provisions).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We assessed management’s estimation of the provi-
sion for decommissioning and restoration obligations.

Specifically, our work included, but was not limited to,
the following procedures:

Assess the design and implementation of the con-
trols over the decommissioning and restoration obli-
gations estimation process;

Compare current estimates of costs with actual de-
commissioning and restoration costs previously in-
curred. Where no previous data was available, we
reconciled cost estimates to third party support or
the Group’s engineers’ estimates;

Inspection of supporting evidence for any material
revisions in cost estimates during the year;
Confirm whether the decommissioning dates are
consistent with the Group’s budget and business
plans;

Involve our valuation specialists to assist us in the
analysis of discount rates and inflation rates;

Test the mathematical accuracy of the decommis-
sioning and restoration obligation calculation;

Assess the adequacy of the disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements; and

The procedures described in the key audit matter
regarding climate risk and energy transition above.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information in-
cluded in the annual report and the annual financial re-
port, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements, the directors’ report for the Group and the
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not ex-
press any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, to consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the con-
solidated financial statements or our knowledge ob-
tained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materi-
ally misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-
mation, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and of
the Audit Committee for the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the EU, and the additional require-
ments under Section 245a Austrian Company Code
(UGB) for them to present a true and fair view of the
assets, the financial position and the financial perfor-
mance of the Group and for such internal controls as
management determines are necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless manage-
ment either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the EU regulation
and in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing,
which require the application of ISA, always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered mate-
rial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could rea-
sonably be expected to influence the economic deci-
sions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the EU regula-
tion and in accordance with Austrian Standards on Au-
diting, which require the application of ISA, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scep-
ticism throughout the audit.

We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and ob-
tain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of in-
ternal control;

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-
ness of the Group’s internal control;

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting esti-
mates and related disclosures made by manage-
ment;

conclude on the appropriateness of management’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a

material uncertainty exists related to events or con-
ditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or condi-
tions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern;

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements, in-
cluding the disclosures, and whether the consoli-
dated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation;

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regard-
ing the financial information of the entities or busi-
ness activities within the Group to express an opin-
ion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we iden-
tify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical require-
ments regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Com-
mittee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit mat-
ters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circum-
stances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse con-
sequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such commu-
nication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements

Comments on the Directors’ Report for the Group
Pursuant to Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles, the directors’ report for the Group is to be
audited as to whether it is consistent with the consoli-
dated financial statements and as to whether the direc-
tors’ report for the Group was prepared in accordance
with the applicable legal regulations.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the
directors’ report for the Group in accordance with Aus-
trian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian
Standards on Auditing for the audit of the directors’ re-
port for the Group.

Opinion

In our opinion, the directors’ report for the Group was
prepared in accordance with the valid legal require-
ments, comprising the details in accordance with Sec-
tion 243a Austrian Company Code (UGB), and is con-
sistent with the consolidated financial statements.

Vienna, March 9, 2023

Ernst & Young
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft m.b. H.

Mag. Alexander Wlasto m.p.
Wirtschaftsprifer/Certified Public Accountant

Statement

Based on the findings during the audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements and due to the thus obtained
understanding concerning the Group and its circum-
stances no material misstatements in the directors’ re-
port for the Group came to our attention.

Additional information in accordance with article 10
EU regulation

We were elected as auditor by the ordinary general
meeting on June 3, 2022. We were appointed by the
Supervisory Board on July 14, 2022. We are auditors
without cease since 2011.

We confirm that the audit opinion in the Section "Report
on the consolidated financial statements" is consistent
with the additional report to the audit committee re-
ferred to in article 11 of the EU regulation.

We declare that no prohibited non-audit services (arti-
cle 5 par. 1 of the EU regulation) were provided by us
and that we remained independent of the audited com-
pany in conducting the audit.

Responsible Austrian Certified Public Accountant
The engagement partner is Mr. Alexander Wlasto, Cer-
tified Public Accountant.

Mag. Katharina Schrenk m.p.
Wirtschaftspriifer/Certified Public Accountant
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Consolidated Income Statement for 2022

Consolidated Income Statement

In EUR mn

Sales revenues

Other operating income

Net income from equity-accounted investments

Total revenues and other income

Purchases (net of inventory variation)

Production and operating expenses

Production and similar taxes

Depreciation, amortization, impairments and write-ups

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses

Exploration expenses

Other operating expenses

Operating Result

Dividend income

Interest income

Interest expenses

Other financial income and expenses

Net financial result

Profit before tax

Taxes on income and profit

Net income for the year
thereof attributable to stockholders of the parent
thereof attributable to hybrid capital owners
thereof attributable to non-controlling interests

Basic Earnings Per Share in EUR

Diluted Earnings Per Share in EUR

2022
62,298
1,644
869
64,811
(39,298)
(4,542)
(1,663)
(2,484)
(2,689)
(250)
(1,639)
12,246
11
269
(417)
(1,345)
(1,481)
10,765
(5,590)
5,175
3,634
71
1,470
11.12
11.11

2021
35,555
933
600
37,087
(20,257)
(3,645)
(658)
(3,750)
(2,746)
(280)
(688)
5,065
19
161
(334)
(40)
(194)
4,870
(2,066)
2,804
2,093
94
617
6.40
6.40
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for 2022

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
In EUR mn

Net income for the year

Currency translation differences

Gains/(losses) arising during the year

Reclassification of (gains)/losses to the income statement
Gains/(losses) on hedges

Gains/(losses) arising during the year

Reclassification of (gains)/losses to the income statement
Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments

Total of items that may be reclassified (“recycled”) subsequently to
the income statement

Remeasurement gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans

Gains/(losses) on equity investments

Gains/(losses) on hedges that are subsequently transferred to the carrying
amount of the hedged item

Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments

Total of items that will not be reclassified (“recycled”) subsequently to
the income statement

Income taxes relating to items that may be reclassified (“recycled”)

subsequently to the income statement

Income taxes relating to items that will not be reclassified (“recycled”)
subsequently to the income statement

Total income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
thereof attributable to stockholders of the parent
thereof attributable to hybrid capital owners
thereof attributable to non-controlling interests
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as of December 31, 2022

Assets
In EUR mn

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Equity-accounted investments
Other financial assets

Other assets

Deferred taxes

Non-current assets
Inventories

Trade receivables

Other financial assets

Income tax receivables

Other assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

Assets held for sale

Total assets
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Equity and Liabilities

In EUR mn

Share capital

Hybrid capital

Reserves

Equity of stockholders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
Bonds

Lease liabilities

Other interest-bearing debts

Provisions for decommissioning and restoration obligations
Other provisions

Other financial liabilities

Other liabilities

Deferred taxes

Non-current liabilities

Trade payables

Bonds

Lease liabilities

Other interest-bearing debts

Income tax liabilities

Provisions for decommissioning and restoration obligations
Other provisions

Other financial liabilities

Other liabilities

Current liabilities

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale
Total equity and liabilities
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for 2022

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity in 2022t

In EUR mn

Currency
Share Capital Hybrid Revenue translation
capital reserves capital reserves differences
January 1, 2022 327 1,514 2,483 12,008 (910)
Net income for the year — — — 3,705 —
Other comprehensive income for the year — — — 206 543
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — 3,911 543
Dividend distribution and hybrid coupon — — — (847) —
Share-based payments — 4 — — —
Increase/(decrease) in non-controlling interests — — — 5) )
Reclassification of cash flow hedges to balance sheet — — — — =
December 31, 2022 327 1,517 2,483 15,076 (370)
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity in 2021t
In EUR mn
Currency
Share Capital Hybrid Revenue translation
capital reserves capital reserves differences
January 1, 2021 327 1,506 3,228 10,502 (1,785)
Net income for the year — — — 2,187 —
Other comprehensive income for the year — — — 61 875
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — 2,248 875
Dividend distribution and hybrid coupon — — — (699) —
Changes in hybrid capital — — (745) (43) —
Share-based payments — 8 — — —
Increase/(decrease) in non-controlling interests — — — — —
Reclassification of cash flow hedges to balance sheet — — — — =
December 31, 2021 327 1,514 2,483 12,008 (910)

* See Note 21 — Equity of stockholders of the parent and Note 22 — Non-controlling interests
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Share of other compr.
income of equity-

Equity of
stockholders

Non-controlling

Hedges accounted investments Treasury shares of the parent interests Total equity
173 (86) 3) 15,505 6,491 21,996
— — — 3,705 1,470 5,175
(6) 4 — 746 71 817
(6) 4 — 4,451 1,540 5,992
— — — (847) (621) (1,467)
— — 1 4 — 4
— — — 3 45 48
33 — — 33 23 56
200 (82) (2) 19,149 7,478 26,628
Share of other compr. Equity of
income of equity- stockholders Non-controlling

Hedges accounted investments Treasury shares of the parent interests Total equity
51 (86) 3) 13,739 6,159 19,899
— — — 2,187 617 2,804
134 0 — 1,071 121 1,192
134 0 — 3,258 739 3,996
— — — (699) (268) (967)
— — — (789) — (789)
— — 0 8 — 8
— — — — (147) (247)
(13) — — (13) 8 (5)
173 (86) 3) 15,505 6,491 21,996
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for 2022

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
In EUR mn

Net income for the year

Depreciation, amortization, impairments and write ups

Deferred taxes

Current taxes

Income taxes paid

Tax refunds

Losses/(gains) from disposal of non-current assets and businesses
Income from equity-accounted investments and other dividend income
Dividends received from equity-accounted investments and other companies
Interest expense

Interest paid

Interest income

Interest received

Increase/(decrease) in personnel provisions

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

Other changes

Cash flow from operating activities excluding net working capital effects
Decrease/(increase) in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in receivables

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities

Changes in net working capital components

Cash flow from operating activities

Investments

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

Investments, loans and other financial assets

Disposals

Proceeds in relation to non-current assets and financial assets
Proceeds from the sale of subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash disposed
Cash disposed due to the loss of control

Cash flow from investing activities

Increase in long-term borrowings

Repayments of long-term borrowings

Increase/(decrease) in short-term borrowings

Increase in non-controlling interest

Decrease in non-controlling interest

Dividends paid to stockholders of the parent (incl. hybrid coupons)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Cash flow from financing activities

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Thereof cash disclosed within Assets held for sale

Cash and cash equivalents presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of Preparation and Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation

OMV Aktiengesellschaft (registered in the Austrian
Register of Companies with its office based at
TrabrennstraBe 6—8, 1020 Vienna, Austria), is an inte-
grated, international oil, gas and chemicals company
with activities in the divisions Chemicals & Materials,
Refining & Marketing, and Exploration & Production.

These financial statements have been prepared and
are in compliance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU
and in accordance with the supplementary account-
ing regulations pursuant to Sec. 245a, Para. 1 of the
Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). The financial year
corresponds to the calendar year.

The consolidated financial statements are in general
based on the historical cost principle, except for certain
items that have been measured at fair value as de-
scribed in Note 2 — Accounting policies, judgements
and estimates. The accounting policies adopted are
consistent with those of the previous financial year, ex-
cept where otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements for 2022 have
been prepared in million EUR (EUR mn,

EUR 1,000,000). Accordingly, there may be rounding
differences.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the fi-
nancial statements of OMV Aktiengesellschaft and the
entities it controls (its subsidiaries) as at December 31,
2022. The financial statements of all consolidated com-
panies are prepared in accordance with uniform group-
wide accounting policies. A list of subsidiaries, equity-
accounted investments and other investments is in-
cluded under Note 38 — Direct and indirect investments
of OMV Aktiengesellschaft — including consolidation
method, business segment, place of business and in-
terest held by OMV.

The consolidated financial statements for 2022 were
approved and released for publication by the Supervi-
sory Board on March 9, 2023.

Accounting policies, judgements and estimates

1) Significant judgements and estimates

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements re-
quires management to make estimates and judge-
ments that affect the amounts reported for assets, lia-
bilities, income and expenses, as well as the amounts
disclosed in the notes. These estimates and assump-
tions are based on historical experience and other fac-
tors that are deemed reasonable at the date of prepara-
tion of these financial statements. Actual outcomes
could differ from these estimates.

Significant estimates and assumptions were required in
particular with regards to the effects from the climate
crisis and energy transition as well as the Ukraine-Rus-
sia-crisis. These estimates and assumptions are de-
scribed below in section a) and b).

In addition, estimates and assumptions with significant
impact on OMV Group result were made with respect to
oil and gas reserves, the recoverability of assets,

provisions, lease contracts, and taxes on income.
These are described together with the relevant ac-
counting policies in section 2 of this note and high-
lighted in grey.

a) Significant estimates and assumptions in as-
sessing climate-related risks

OMYV has considered the short- and long-term effects of
climate change and energy transition in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. They are subject to
uncertainty and they may have significant impacts on
the assets and liabilities currently reported by the
Group.

In 2022, OMV defined the first time concrete short-,
medium-, and long-term targets for its emissions reduc-
tions and committed to becoming a net-zero emissions
company by 2050 (Scopes 1, 2, and 3). For Scopes 1
and 2 emissions, OMV is aiming for an absolute reduc-
tion of at least 30% by 2030 and of at least 60% by
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2040. For Scope 3 emissions, OMV is striving for a re-
duction of at least 20% by 2030 and of 50% by 2040.*

The significant accounting estimates performed by
management incorporate the future effects of OMV’s
own strategic decisions and commitments on having its
portfolio adhered to the energy transition targets, short
and long-term impacts of climate risks and energy tran-
sition to lower carbon energy sources together with
management’s best estimate on global supply and de-
mand, including forecasted commodities prices.

Nevertheless, there is significant uncertainty around the
changes in the mix of energy sources over the next 30
years and the extent to which such changes will meet
the ambitions of the Paris Agreement. While companies
can commit to such ambitions, financial reporting under
IFRS requires the use of assumptions that represent
management’s current best estimate of the range of ex-
pected future economic conditions, which may differ
from such targets. These assumptions include expecta-
tions about future worldwide decarbonization efforts
and the transition of economies to net zero emissions.

OMV uses two different scenarios which were devel-
oped by the internal Market Intelligence department:
the base case and the stress case. The scenarios differ
in the underlying expectations about the pace of the fu-
ture worldwide decarbonization and lead to different as-
sumptions for demand, prices and margins of fossil
commodities. The base case is used for the mid-term
planning as well as for estimates going into the meas-
urement of various items in the group financial state-
ments, including impairment testing of non-financial as-
sets and the measurement of provisions. The stress
case which is based on a faster decarbonization path
than the base case is used for calculating sensitivities
in order to recognize the uncertainty in the pace of the
energy transition and to better understand the financial
risk from energy transition on the existing assets of
OMV. Both scenarios, the base and stress case, reflect
more climate change mitigation efforts and a faster de-
carbonization path than the scenarios used in the prior
year. But OMV still expects to see energy transition at
different paces in different parts of the world.

The base case is built on a scenario in which OECD
countries will achieve the net zero emissions goal be-
tween 2050 and 2070 (equivalent to a path between
the IEA “net zero emissions” (NZE) and “sustainable
development” (SDS) scenarios) and non-OECD coun-
tries will implement all announced decarbonization
pledges in full and on time (equivalent to the IEA “an-
nounced pledges scenario” (APS)).2

For the stress test analysis, a decarbonization scenario
is used which is a potential trajectory to reaching the
climate goals according to the Paris Agreement. In this
scenario, it is assumed that advanced economies will
reach the net zero emissions goal by 2050, while mid-
dle-income and developing economies will only follow
at a later point but not later than 2070. This scenario is
built on a path between the IEA SDS and IEA NZE sce-
narios. The entire world following the commitments of
the Paris Agreement leads to lower global demand for
oil and gas and consequently to lower oil and gas
prices than in the base case. In addition, this scenario
incorporates other possible effects such as slower eco-
nomic growth in the short term.

In an additional sensitivity analysis for assessing the re-
coverability of the oil and gas assets in the E&P seg-
ment, OMV used the Net Zero Emissions by 2050 sce-
nario which was modeled by the IEA.® It shows a path-
way for the global energy sector to achieve net zero
CO; emissions by 2050.

For investment decisions, business cases are calcu-
lated based on the same price and demand assump-
tions as are used for the mid-term planning and impair-
ment tests. In addition, a business case calculation
based on the stress case assumptions is mandatory for
all investment decisions in order to assess the eco-
nomic viability under a “Paris aligned” scenario. The
IEA NZE scenario is not used for investment decisions.

Costs for CO, emissions are taken into account in busi-
ness case calculations, impairment tests as well as the
stress case scenario calculations to the extent carbon
pricing schemes are in place in the respective coun-
tries. Estimates for the CO, prices in the European Un-
ion are disclosed in Note 2.2j.

! The base for the emission reduction targets are the Group’s emissions in 2019 adjusted for the emissions of Borealis in which OMV acquired a majority stake in
2020. In addition to the emission reduction targets based on absolute reductions, the Group defined also targets based on carbon intensities.

2 Based on World Energy Outlook 2021 report published by International Energy Agency (IEA). The sustainable development scenario (SDS) which was not in-
cluded in the IEA World Energy Outlook 2022 report is a normative scenario used to model a “well below 2°C” pathway as well as the achievement of other
sustainable development goals and its outcomes are close to the “announced pledges scenario” (APS).

2 Based on the World Energy Outlook 2022 report published by International Energy Agency (IEA)




OMV ANNUAL REPORT 2022 / FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Recoverability of assets

Commodity price assumptions have a significant impact
on the recoverable amounts of E&A assets, PPE and
goodwill. For the impairment tests, the price set as de-
fined for the mid-term planning and incorporating the
energy transition scenario as described above was
used. Disclosures on the impairment tests — including
the detailed price set — are included in Note 2.2j as well
as Note 7 — Depreciation, amortization, impairments
and write-ups. The outcome of the impairment tests is
not in line with the goals of the Paris Agreement.

The sensitivities calculated based on the stress case

indicate that there is mainly a risk for impairments in a
Paris-aligned scenario for oil and gas assets in the E&P

Sensitivities on oil and gas assets?

segment. In order to further assess the risk from differ-
ent decarbonization scenarios and its impact on OMV’s
oil and gas assets, an additional calculation of a possi-
ble effect of using the oil and gas prices in a 1.5°C
compatible Net Zero Emission by 2050 (NZE) scenario
by the International Energy Agency (IEA) has been per-
formed. CO; price assumptions were the same as in
the stress case calculation. They are in line with the
IEA NZE scenario for the European Union. But no CO,
prices were taken into account in countries without CO»,
pricing systems in place.

The impact of the OMV stress case and the “NZE by
2050” calculation on the carrying amounts of oil and
gas assets are summarized in the table below.

Decrease of car-
rying amounts of
oil and gas assets
in EUR bn

(5.3)

(6.1)

OMV stress case scenario
IEA NZE scenario

Remaining carry-
ing amounts of oil
and gas assets

in EUR bn
6.9
6.0

Brent oil price in
real terms
2030/2040/20502

USD/bbl
47127120
36/30/25

Gas price THE in
real terms
2030/2040/2050?

EUR/MWh
18/18/18
15/13/12

! Including oil and gas assets with unproved and proved reserves, E&P at-equity investments and E&P related goodwill

2 In 2027 real terms

Whereas the recoverability of the refineries in the R&M
segment would also be impacted through globally de-
clining demand for almost all products, resulting in
lower margins and cracks in a scenario assuming a
quicker decarbonization path, the carrying amounts of
assets in the C&M segment are not expected to be at
risk.

More details on the stress tests including a description
of the assumptions applied are included in Note 2.2j.

Useful lives

The pace of energy transition may have an impact on
the remaining useful lives of assets.The depreciable
fixed assets in the refineries will in average be fully de-
preciated over the next 9 years and in retail over the
next 5 to 10 years. Demand for petroleum products is
expected to stay robust over this period of time. It is
therefore not expected that energy transition has a ma-
terial impact on the expected useful lives of prop-

erty, plant, and equipment in the R&M segment.

In the E&P segment, oil and gas assets are depreci-
ated using the unit-of-production method as described

in Note 2.2h which is based on proved reserves. Ac-
cording to the current production plans, 31% of proved
reserves as at December 31, 2022, will be left by 2030,
5% by 2040, and less than 1% by 2050. The existing oil
and gas assets with proved reserves will therefore be
significantly depreciated until 2030 and, with the excep-
tion of one field, fully depreciated until 2050.

As OMV doesn’t see the C&M segment materially im-
pacted by the energy transition, there is also no mate-
rial impact on useful lives in this segment expected.

Decommissioning provisions

The maturity profile of decommissioning provisions is
included in Note 23 - Provisions. The economic cut-off
date of oil and gas assets does not shift significantly
under the stress case scenario. The impact on the car-
rying amount of the decommissioning provisions is
therefore expected to be immaterial.

For refineries, no decommissioning provisions are rec-
ognized. OMV’s refinery sites are expected to continue
to be used for production under a Paris-aligned energy
transition scenario. There are significant investments

planned in the next years with the goal to adapt OMV’s
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refinery sites in Europe in the direction of renewable
fuels and chemical feedstock production with deeper
chemicals integration. Furthermore, ADNOC Refining is
expected to continue to operate under such a scenario
because of its favourable positioning in the market.

b) Impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and re-
lated significant estimates and assumptions

The attack of Russia on Ukraine on February 24, 2022,
led to developments that had a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

OMV is represented in Russia by an interest in the Yu-
zhno-Russkoye gas field. The gas is produced by the
operator and the license holder, OJSC Severneftegaz-
prom (SNGP), in which OMV holds a 24.99% interest.
The interest in SNGP was until February 28, 2022, ac-
counted for at equity. The gas is sold through the trad-
ing company JSC GAZPROM YRGM Development
(YRGM), in which OMV holds one preferred share enti-
tling OMV to a dividend of 99.99% of the total net profit.
Until February 2022, YRGM was fully consolidated be-
cause all its activities are predetermined and OMV was
fully exposed to the variability of returns. In response to
the sanctions of the Western countries, Russia passed
several countersanctions, which have an impact on the
operation of foreign companies in Russia. According to
these countersanctions, among others, OMV lost power
to receive dividends from YRGM, which led to the loss
of control over YRGM and the loss of significant influ-
ence over SNGP. For this reason, OMV ceased to fully
consolidate YRGM and to equity account for SNGP in
the consolidated financial statements.

Starting March 1, 2022, the investments in SNGP and
YRGM are accounted for at fair value through profit or
loss according to IFRS 9. The deconsolidation led to a
loss of EUR 658 mn; of that amount, EUR 399 mn was
related to the recycling of the cumulative currency dif-
ferences originally recognized in other comprehensive
income. The total amount was included in other operat-
ing expenses. In addition, the deconsolidation had a
negative impact on the cash flow from investing activi-
ties in the amount of EUR 208 mn due to the derecog-
nized cash balance of YRGM, shown in the line “Cash
disposed due to the loss of control.” As of Decem-

ber 31, 2022, the fair value of the investments in YRGM
and SNGP was further decreased to a book value of
EUR 23 mn, leading to an additional loss of EUR 370
mn in the financial result. The fair value measurement
takes into account the further deterioration of the politi-
cal and legal environment in Russia and is based on a
DCF model considering the production profile, ex-
pected gas prices, and production costs, as well as an

illiquidity discount of 90% on the remaining net present
value of the cash flows and the cash balance.

OMYV has a contractual position toward Gazprom from
the redetermination of the reserves of the Yuzhno
Russkoye gas field, which was taken over as part of the
acquisition of the participation in this field in 2017. Ac-
cording to this agreement, the volume of gas reserves
in the Yuzhno Russkoye field is contractually defined
and, in case the reserves are higher or lower than what
was assumed in the agreement, either OMV could be
obligated to compensate Gazprom (but would have
profited in the future from higher sales volumes) or
Gazprom could be obligated to compensate OMV. The
payment for the reserve redetermination is linked to the
actual amount of the gas reserves.

A fair value calculation which was based on three dif-
ferent scenarios, one of them based on an internal esti-
mate by OMV, led to a positive value. In the current dif-
ficult political and legal environment in Russia, OMV,
however, no longer expects this contractual position to
be recoverable. As a consequence, a fair value loss of
EUR 432 mn was recognized in other operating ex-
penses, which reduced the fair value of this position to
zero.

In 2021, the fair value measurement was based on
OMV'’s internal reserve estimates and led to an asset
with a value of EUR 432 mn. An external assessment
of the reserves in Yushno Russkoye as of December
31, 2020, showed a signficant deviation from the inter-
nal estimate. In an additional expert-opinion by an inde-
pendent, external expert OMV’s approach for determin-
ing the reserves was, however, deemed appropriate.
An increase of the estimated reserves over the contrac-
tually defined reserves could lead to a financial liability
toward Gazprom.

The total payments made by OMV as financial investor
under the financing agreements for Nord Stream 2
amounted to EUR 729 mn. The total outstanding
amount including accrued interest as of March 5, 2022,
amounted to EUR 1 bn and was fully impaired, nega-
tively impacting the financial result (carrying amount as
of December 31, 2021: EUR 987 mn).

Whereas OMV purchased on average 7.6 TWh per
month of natural gas under long-term supply agree-
ments with Gazprom in Austria and Germany in the first
guarter of 2022, there were curtailments of gas delivery
volumes since mid of June and no deliveries to Ger-
many since end of August 2022. In the second half of
2022, OMV imported on average 2.6 TWh per month of
natural gas based on these contracts. The curtailments
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of gas delivery volumes required adjustments to OMV’s
hedging ratios and replacement purchases on the mar-
ket resulting in a negative financial impact. The uncer-
tainty regarding future curtailments and delivery vol-
umes remains and could result in further substantial
losses in particular, in case actual deliveries materially
deviate from previously hedged volumes leading to par-
tially unmitigated gas price exposure from Gazprom
supply contracts.

No onerous contract provisions have been recognized
for the long-term gas supply contracts with Gazprom.
The pricing of these contracts is based on current hub
prices and it is not possible to estimate any negative
impact from future gas curtailments. The hedges re-
lated to the supply from these contracts are measured
at fair value and not subject to hedge accounting.

OMYV took various measures to replace Russian gas
supplies and to ensure that it can meet all of its supply
obligations. This included the establishment of routes
for deliveries from North Western Europe (e.g. Norwe-
gian equity gas and liquified natural gas (LNG) supply
via the Gate terminal) and Italy. In July, OMV managed
to secure 40 TWh of additional transport capacities to
Austria for the current gas year (October 1, 2022 —
September 30, 2023) at the transfer points Oberkappel
(pipeline from Germany) and Arnoldstein (pipeline from
Italy). Furthermore, storages have been filled to maxim-
ize possible withdrawals in case of supply cuts and
OMYV has access to liquid gas market hubs in Europe, if
needed.

As a direct consequence of the energy crisis in Europe,
regulatory measures like the EU solidarity contribution
and price caps were implemented in some of the coun-
tries in which OMV is active. The impact from the EU
solidarity contribution on the group financial statements
is disclosed in Note 12 — Taxes on income and profit.

2) Significant accounting policies

a) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the ac-
quisition method. Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries
acquired are included at their fair value at the time of
acquisition. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether it measures the non-controlling interest
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportion-
ate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value
at the date of acquisition. Contingent consideration
classified as financial asset or liability is subsequently
measured at fair value with the changes in fair value
recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognized
for non-controlling interest and the fair value of the eg-
uity previously held by OMV in the acquired entity over
the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities as-
sumed. Goodwill is recorded as an asset and tested for
impairment at least yearly. Impairments are recorded
immediately through profit or loss, subsequent write-
ups are not possible. Any gain on a bargain purchase is
recognized in profit or loss immediately.

b) Sales revenue

Revenue is generally recognized when control over a
product or a service is transferred to a customer. It is
measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer and excludes amounts col-
lected on behalf of third parties.

When goods such as crude oil, LNG, oil and chemical
products and similar goods are sold, the delivery of
each quantity unit normally represents a single perfor-
mance obligation. Revenue is recognized when control
of the goods has transferred to the customer, which is
the point in time when legal ownership as well as the
risk of loss has passed to the customer and is deter-
mined on the basis of the Incoterm agreed in the con-
tract with the customer. These sales are done with nor-
mal credit terms according to the industry standard.

Revenue from the production of crude oil, in which
OMYV has an interest with other producers, is recog-
nized according to the sales method. This means that
revenue is recognized based on the actual sales to
third parties, regardless of the Group’s percentage in-
terest or entitlement. An adjustment of production costs
is recognized at average cost for the difference be-
tween the costs associated with the output sold and the
costs incurred based on entitlement to output, with a
counter entry in the other assets or liabilities.

In the R&M retail business, revenues from the sale of
fuels are recognized when products are supplied to the
customers. Depending on whether OMV is principal or
agent in the sale of shop merchandise, revenue and
costs related to such sales are presented gross or net
in the income statement. OMV is principal if it controls
the goods before they are transferred to the customer,
which is mainly indicated by OMV having the inventory
risk. At filling stations, payments are due immediately at
the time of purchase.

OMV'’s gas and power supply contracts include a single
performance obligation which is satisfied over the
agreed delivery period. Revenue is recognized
according to the consumption by the customer and in
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line with the amount to which OMV has a right to
invoice. Only in exceptional cases long-term gas supply
contracts contain stepped prices in different periods
where the rates do not reflect the value of the goods at
the time of delivery. In these cases revenue is
recognized based on the average contractual price.

In some customer contracts for the delivery of natural
gas, the fees charged to the customer comprise a fixed
charge as well as a variable fee depending on the
volumes delivered. These contracts contain only one
performance obligation which is to stand-ready for the
delivery of gas over a certain period. The revenue from
the fixed charges and the variable fees is recognized in
line with the amount chargeable to the customer. Gas
and power deliveries are billed and paid on a monthly
basis.

Gas storage contracts contain a stand-ready obligation
for providing storage services over an agreed period of
time. Revenue is recognized according to the amount
to which OMV has a right to invoice. These services
are billed and paid on a monthly basis.

There are some customer contracts in OMV for the
delivery of oil and gas as well as for the provision of
gas storage services which have a term of more than
one year. In principle, IFRS 15 requires the disclosure
of the total amount of transaction prices allocated to
unperformed performance obligations for such
contracts. Contracts for the delivery of oil contain
variable prices based on market prices as at delivery
date, as it is common in the oil industry. For these
contracts it is, therefore, not possible to allocate the
transaction price to unsatisfied performance
obligations. For gas delivery and gas storage contracts
OMYV applies the practical expedient according to IFRS
15.121 (b) according to which this information need not
be disclosed for contracts where revenue is recognized
in the amount to which the entity has a right to invoice.
OMV, therefore, does not disclose this information.

c) Other revenues

Other revenues include revenues from commaodity con-
tracts which are in the scope of IFRS 9. Sales and
purchases of commodities are reported net within other
revenues, when the forward sales and purchase
contracts are determined to be for trading purposes
and not for the final physical delivery.

In addition, other revenues include an adjustment of
revenues from considering the national oil company’s
profit share as income tax in certain production sharing
agreements in the E&P segment (see 2.2f), realized

and unrealized results from hedging of sales
transactions as well as lease and rental income.

d) Exploration expenses

Exploration expenses relate exclusively to the business
segment E&P and comprise the costs associated with
unproved reserves. These include geological and
geophysical costs for the identification and investigation
of areas with possible oil and gas reserves and
administrative, legal and consulting costs in connection
with exploration. They also include all impairments on
exploration wells where no proved reserves could be
demonstrated. Depreciation of economically successful
exploration wells is reported as depreciation,
amortization, impairment charges and write-ups.

e) Research and development

Expenditure related to research activities is recognized
as expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Research and development (R&D) expenses, which
are presented in the income statement within the line-
Other operating expenses, include all direct and
indirect materials, personnel and external services
costs incurred in connection with the focused search for
new insights related to the development and significant
improvement of products, services and processes and
in connection with research activities. Development
costs are capitalized if the recognition criteria according
to IAS 38 are fulfilled.

f) Exploration and production sharing agreements
Exploration and production sharing agreements
(EPSASs) are contracts for oil and gas licenses in which
the oil or gas production is shared between one or
more oil companies and the host country/national oil
company in defined proportions. Exploration
expenditures are carried by the oil companies as a rule
and recovered from the state or the national oil
company through so called “cost oil” in a successful
case only. Under certain EPSA contracts the host
country’s/national oil company'’s profit share represents
imposed income taxes and is treated as such for
purposes of the income statement presentation.

g) Intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
are recognized at costs of acquisition or construction
(including costs of major inspection and general over-
hauls). The present value of the expected cost for the
decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in
the cost of the respective asset when a decommission-
ing provision is recognized (see 2.2s). Costs for re-
placements of components are capitalized and carrying
values of the replaced parts are derecognized. Costs
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relating to minor maintenance and repairs are treated
as expenses in the year in which they are incurred.

Useful life

Intangible assets and depreciable property, plant and
equipment (except for oil and gas assets, see 2.2h) are
amortized or depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the useful economic life.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Software
Concessions, licenses, contract-related intangible assets etc.
Business-specific property, plant and equipment
E&P Oil and gas wells
R&M Pipelines
Gas power plant
Storage tanks
Refinery facilities
Filling stations
C&M Chemical production facilities
Other property, plant and equipment
Production and office buildings
Other technical plant and equipment
Fixtures and fittings

h) Oil and gas assets

E&P activities are recorded using the successful efforts
method. The acquisition costs of geological and geo-
physical studies before the discovery of proved re-
serves, are recognized in the period in which they are
incurred. The costs of wells are capitalized and re-
ported as intangible assets until the existence or ab-
sence of potentially commercially viable oil or gas re-
serves is determined. Wells which are not commercially
viable are expensed. The costs of exploration wells
whose commercial viability has not yet been deter-
mined continue to be capitalized as long as the follow-
ing conditions are fulfilled:

Sufficient oil and gas reserves have been discov-

ered that would justify completion as a production

well.

Sufficient progress is being made in assessing the
economic and technical feasibility to justify begin-

ning field development in the near future.

The period for which the entity has the right to ex-
plore in the specific area has not expired.

Significant estimates and judgements: Recover-
ability of unproved oil and gas assets

There may be cases when costs related to unproved
oil and gas properties remain capitalized over longer
periods while various appraisal and seismic activities

Indefinite
3-7
3-20, contract duration or unit-of-production method

Unit-of-production method
20-30

8-30

40

25

continue in order to assess the size of the reservoir
and its commerciality. Further decisions on the opti-
mum timing of such developments are made from a
resource and portfolio point of view. As soon as
there is no further intention to develop a discovery,
the assets are immediately impaired.

Exploratory wells in progress at year-end which are de-
termined to be unsuccessful subsequent to the state-
ment of financial position date are treated as non-ad-
justing events, meaning that the costs incurred for such
exploratory wells remain capitalized in the financial
statements of the reporting period under review and will
be expensed in the subsequent period.

License acquisition costs and capitalized exploration
and appraisal activities are not amortized as long as
they are related to unproved reserves, but tested for
impairment when there is an indicator for a potential im-
pairment. Once the reserves are proved and commer-
cial viability is established, the related assets are re-
classified into tangible assets. Development expendi-
ture on the construction, installation or completion of in-
frastructure facilities such as platforms and pipelines
and drilling development wells is capitalized within tan-
gible assets. Once production starts, depreciation com-
mences. Capitalized exploration and development
costs and support equipment are generally depreciated
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based on proved developed reserves by applying the
unit-of-production method; only capitalized exploration
rights and acquired reserves are amortized on the ba-
sis of total proved reserves, unless a different reserves
basis is more adequate.

Significant estimate: Oil and gas reserves

The oil and gas reserves are estimated by the
Group’s petroleum engineers in accordance with in-
dustry standards and reassessed at least once per
year. In addition, external reviews are performed
regularly. In 2022, the reserves of the oil and gas as-
sets (as of December 31, 2021) in Tunisia, KRI and
Malaysia were externally reviewed by DeGolyer and
MacNaughton (D&M). The reserves of the other sig-
nificant oil and gas assets were externally reviewed
the year before.

The results of the external reviews did not show sig-
nificant deviations from the internal estimates, apart
from few exceptional cases. In case of significant
deviations, OMV performs further analysis, involving
additional independent experts, where necessary.

Oil and gas reserve estimates have a significant im-
pact on the assessment of the recoverability of car-
rying amounts of the Group’s oil and gas assets.
Downward revisions of these estimates could lead to
impairment of the asset’s carrying. In addition,
changes to the estimates of oil and gas reserves im-
pact prospectively the amount of amortization and
depreciation.

i) Associated companies and joint arrangements
Associated companies are those entities in which the
Group has significant influence, but not control nor joint
control over the financial and operating policies. Joint
arrangements, which are arrangements of which the
Group has joint control together with one or more par-
ties, are classified into joint ventures or joint operations.
Joint ventures are joint arrangements in which the par-
ties that share control have rights to the net assets of
the arrangement. Joint operations are joint arrange-
ments in which the parties that share joint control have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, re-
lating to the arrangement.

Investments in associated companies and joint ven-
tures are accounted for using the equity method, under
which the investment is initially recognized at cost and
subsequently adjusted for the Group’s share of the
profit or loss less dividends received and the Group’s

share of other comprehensive income and other move-
ments in equity.

Significant joint exploration and production activities in
the E&P segment are conducted through joint opera-
tions which are not structured through a separate vehi-
cle. For these joint operations, OMV recognizes in the
consolidated financial statements its share of the as-
sets held and liabilities and expenses incurred jointly
with the other partners, as well as the group’s income
from the sale of its share of the output and any liabili-
ties and expenses that the group has incurred in rela-
tion to the joint operation. Acquisitions of interests in a
joint operation, in which the activity of the joint opera-
tion constitutes a business, are accounted for accord-
ing to the relevant IFRS 3 principles for business com-
bination accounting (see 2.2a).

In addition, there are contractual arrangements similar
to joint operations which are not jointly controlled and
therefore do not meet the definition of a joint operation
according to IFRS 11. This is the case when the main
decisions can be taken by more than one combination
of affirmative votes of the involved parties or where one
other party has control. OMV assesses whether such
arrangements are within or out of scope of IFRS 11 on
the basis of the relevant legal arrangements such as
concession, license or joint operating agreements
which define how and by whom the relevant decisions
for these activities are taken. The accounting treatment
for these arrangements is basically the same as for
joint operations. As acquisitions of interests in such ar-
rangements are not within the scope of IFRS 3, OMV’s
accounting policy is to treat such transactions as asset
acquisitions.

j) Impairment of assets

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (in-
cluding oil and gas assets) as well as investments in
associated companies and joint ventures are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that an asset may be impaired. Impair-
ment tests are performed on the level of the asset or
the smallest group of assets that generates cash in-
flows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, called cash-generating
units (CGUSs).

If assets are determined to be impaired, the carrying
amounts are written down to their recoverable amount,
which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or
value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
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post-tax discount rate that reflects current market as-
sessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU. The pre-tax discount rate
is determined by way of iteration. The cash flows are
generally derived from the recent budgets and planning
calculations, which are prepared separately for each of
the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are al-
located.

The fair value less costs of disposal is determined on
the basis of the recent market transactions, if available.
If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate
valuation model is used.

If the reasons for impairment no longer apply in a sub-
sequent period, a reversal is recognized in profit or
loss. The increased carrying amount related to the re-
versal of an impairment loss shall not exceed the carry-
ing amount that would have been determined (net of
amortization and depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognized in prior years.

Significant estimates and judgements: Recover-

ability of assets

Evaluating whether assets or CGUs are impaired or
whether past impairments should be reversed, re-
quire the use of various estimates and assumptions
such as price and margin developments, production
volumes and discount rates.

Changes in the economic situation, expectations
about climate-related risks or other facts and circum-
stances might require a revision of these assump-
tions and could lead to impairments of assets or re-
versals of impairments within the next financial year.

2022 Price assumptions for impairment testing

Significant assumptions

The price and margin assumptions used in impair-
ment testing are reviewed annually by management
and approved by the Supervisory Board within the
mid-term planning (MTP). They are based on man-
agement’s best estimate and were consistent with
external sources. Whereas prices in the near term
are anchored in recent forward prices and market
developments, long-term price assumptions are de-
veloped using a variety of long-term forcasts by rep-
utable experts and consultants and consider long-
term views of global supply and demand. OMV’s
long-term assumptions take into consideration the
impacts of the climate change and the energy transi-
tion to lower-carbon energy sources (see section 1
of this note).

During the reporting period, OMV increased its near-
term assumptions for Brent oil taking into account
the tighter post-COVID-19 market. The long-term oil
prices were kept on the same level as in the prior
year. European gas prices were increased signifi-
cantly in the near term after Russia’s invasion of
Ukraine and the sharp decline of Russian gas flows
into the European market. In the long term, Euro-
pean gas prices are assumed to stay slightly above
the assumptions of 2021 also due to lower supply of
Russian gas to Europe and despite a faster decar-
bonization assumed than in 2021.

The price assumptions as well as the EUR-USD ex-
change rates are listed below (in nominal terms in
the first 5 years and afterwards in 2027 real terms in
2022 and 2026 real terms in 2021):

2023
80
1.10
73
91
85

Brent oil price (USD/bbl)
EUR-USD exchange rate
Brent oil price (EUR/bbl)
Gas price THE (EUR/MWh)
CO:2 price EUA (EUR/t)

2025

70
1.10
64
46
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2021 Price assumptions for impairment testing

2022 2023
Brent oil price (USD/bbl) 65 65
EUR-USD exchange rate 1.22 1.22
Brent oil price (EUR/bbl) 53 53
Gas price THE (EUR/MWh) 25 22
COz price EUA (EUR/) 55 58

The key valuation assumptions for the recoverable
amounts of E&P assets are prices and margins, pro-
duction volumes, exchange and discount rates. The
production profiles were estimated based on re-
serves estimates (see Note 2.2h) and past experi-
ence and represent management’s best estimate of
future production. The cash flow projections for the
first five years are based on the mid-term plan and
thereafter on a “life of field” planning and therefore
cover the whole life term of the field.

The increase in gas prices was considered as an in-
dication for reversal of impairments of European gas
assets which were recognized in prior years. On the
contrary, the expected production volume of some
oil and gas fields in Romania decreased due to
higher expected natural decline rates and the cost
base increased. The results of the impairment tests
are disclosed in Note 7 — Depreciation, amortization,
impairments and write-ups.

In the R&M and C&M business, the main assump-
tions for the calculation of the recoverable amounts
are the relevant margins, volumes as well as dis-
count, inflation and growth rates. The value in use
calculation is based on the cash flows of the 5-
year mid-term planning and a terminal value.

2022 Price assumptions for stress case sensitivities

2024 2025 2026 2030
65 65 65 65
1.22 1.22 1.22 1.22
53 53 53 53
22 22 22 22
61 64 68 93

As far as refining margins in the Middle East are
concerned, they were assumed to increase in the
near term but to stay in the long run on the same
level as in the previous period. The margin improve-
ment in the near term was considered as an indica-
tion for reversal of the impairment recognized on the
ADNOC Refining investment in 2021. The growth
rate included in the terminal value calculation was
assumed as 1%.

Sensitivities based on stress case

Sensitivities based on a stress case scenario have
been calculated to test the resilience of assets
against risks from a slower economic growth and the
Russia-Ukraine crisis in the near term and from cli-
mate-related risks in the longer term. Long-term
price and margin assumptions are based on a Paris-
aligned scenario with a worldwide transition to net
zero emissions between 2050 and 2070 (for more
details see section 1 of this note).

The assumptions used in the sensitivity analysis are
included in the table below (prices in nominal terms
in the first 5 years and afterwards in 2027 real
terms):

2023 2024
Brent oil price (USD/bbl) 65 60
EUR-USD exchange rate 1.20 1.20
Brent oil price (EUR/bbl) 54 50
Gas price THE (EUR/MWh) 69 48
COg2 price EUA (EUR/t)

2026 2027 2040
50 50 27
1.20 1.20 1.20
42 42 23
27 20 18

The stress case sensitivities were calculated using a
simplified method. The calculation was based on a
DCF model similar to a value in use calculation where
no future investments for enhancements and improve-
ments were considered. The calculations do not con-
sider consequential measures that manage-

ment could implement such as divestments and
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changes in business plans. The amounts presented
should therefore not be seen as a best estimate of an
expected impairment impact following such a sce-
nario.

In the E&P segment, the cash flows are based on an
adjusted mid-term planning for five years and a life of
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field planning for the remaining years until abandon-
ment. The stress case does not include any other
changes to input factors than prices and volumes and
does not consider any restructuring measures.

Under this stress test scenario, the carrying amounts
of the oil and gas assets with proved reserves (incl.
E&P at-equity investments) would have to be de-
creased by EUR 4.4 bn and goodwill would decrease
by EUR 0.6 bn. In addition, some oil and gas assets
with unproved reserves would be abandoned with a
pre-tax P&L impact of EUR 0.3 bn. For E&P oil and
gas assets, an additional sensitivity based on oil and
gas prices according to the IEA Net Zero by 2050
scenario was calculated and showed a decrease in
the carrying amount of oil and gas assets with proved
and unproved reserves (incl. E&P goodwill) of EUR
6.1 bn (see section 1 of this note).

In the R&M segment, the stress case reflects globally
declining demand for almost all products resulting in
lower margins and cracks compared to the impair-
ment test scenario. Under the stress case scenario,
the carrying amounts related to refineries (including

the investment in ADNOC Refining) would have to be
decreased by in total EUR 0.6 bn, mainly related to
ADNOC Refining investment and Petrobrazi in Roma-
nia. The Schwechat and Burghausen refineries are
more resilient against impairment risks in such a sce-
nario due to the strong focus of these refineries on
petrochemical production.

In the stress test calculations for the refineries, the
cash flows of the 5-year mid-term planning were ad-
justed for the lower margins. The refining indicator
margins Europe were assumed to be lower by approx-
imately 50% in the stress case than in the mid-term
planning. The terminal value for the refineries in Eu-
rope was calculated based on the cash flows derived
from the last detailed planning period and a growth
rate which is equivalent to the CAGR derived from a
long-term estimate of margins and sales volumes.
The growth rates are in the range between (3.17)%
and 1.0%. In addition, cash flows assumed for the ter-
minal value incorporate a significant decrease in oper-
ating costs and CAPEX.

k) Assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified

as held for sale if their carrying amounts are to be real-
ized by sale rather than through continued use. This is
the case when the sale is highly probable, and the as-

set or disposal group is available for immediate sale in
its present condition. Non-current assets and disposal

groups classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible as-
sets once classified as held for sale are no longer
amortized or depreciated.

I) Leases

OMYV as a lessee recognizes lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets for lease contracts according to IFRS 16.
It applies the recognition exemption for short-term
leases and leases in which the underlying asset is of
low value and therefore does not recognize right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for such leases. Leases to
explore for and use oil and natural gas, which comprise
mainly land leases used for such activities, are not in
the scope of IFRS 16. The rent for these contracts is
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Non-lease components are separated from the lease
components for the measurement of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are recognized at
the present value of fixed lease payments and lease
payments which depend on an index or rate over the
determined lease term with the applicable discount
rate. Right-of-use assets are recognized at the value of
the lease liability plus prepayments and initial direct
costs and presented within property, plant and equip-
ment.

OMV as a lessor entered into contracts which were as-
sessed as operating leases, for which fixed and varia-
ble rent is recognized as revenue from rents and leases
over the period of the lease.

Significant estimates and judgements: Leases
OMV has a significant number of contracts in which
it leases filling stations. Many of those contracts in-
clude prolongation and termination options. Prolon-
gation options or periods after termination options
are included in the lease term if it is reasonably cer-
tain that the lease is prolonged or not terminated.
When determining the lease term the Group takes
into account all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive for shortening or
prolonging the lease term using the available op-
tions. When assessing the lease term of leases in
filling stations for periods covered by prolongation or
termination options, the assumption was applied that
the lease term will not exceed 20 years.

Optional periods, which have not been taken into ac-
count in the measurement of the leases, exist mainly
for E&P equipment in Romania, office buildings, a




OMV ANNUAL REPORT 2022 / FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

plot of land in Belgium and gas storage caverns in
Germany. The prolongation option for the office
buildings and the gas storage caverns can only be
exercised in the distant future.

m) Non-derivative financial assets

At initial recognition, OMV classifies its financial assets
as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (OCI) or fair
value through profit or loss. The classification depends
both on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets as well as the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. All regular way
trades are recognized and derecognized on the trade
date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

the asset is held within the business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect con-
tractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise
on specific dates to cash flows that are solely pay-
ments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method less any impair-
ment losses. Interest income, impairment losses and
gains or losses on derecognition are recognized in
profit or loss.

OMV recognizes allowances for expected credit losses
(ECLs) for all financial assets measured at amortized
costs. The ECL calculation is based on external or in-
ternal credit ratings of the counterparty and associated
probabilities of default. Available forward-looking infor-
mation is taken into account, if it has a material impact
on the amount of valuation allowance recognized.

ECLs are recognized in two stages. Where there has
not been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition, credit losses are measured at 12
month ECLs. The 12 month ECL is the credit loss
which results from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months. The Group considers a fi-
nancial asset to have low credit risk when its credit risk
rating is equivalent to the definition of ‘investment
grade’.

Where there has been a significant increase in the
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
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required for the lifetime ECL, i.e. the expected credit
losses resulting from possible default events over the
expected life of a financial asset. For this assessment,
OMV considers all reasonable and supportable infor-
mation that is available without undue cost or effort.
Furthermore, OMV assumes that the credit risk on a fi-
nancial asset has significantly increased if it is more
than 30 days past due. If the credit quality improves for
a lifetime ECL asset, OMV reverts to recognizing allow-
ances on a 12 month ECL basis. A financial asset is
considered to be in default when the financial asset is
90 days past due, unless there is reasonable and sup-
portable information demonstrating that a more lagging
default criterion is appropriate. A financial asset is writ-
ten off when there is no reasonable expectation that the
contractual cash flows will be recovered.

For trade receivables and contract assets from con-
tracts with customers a simplified approach is adopted,
where the impairment losses are recognized at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. In case
there are credit insurances or securities held against
the balances outstanding, the ECL calculation is based
on the probability of default of the insurer/securer for
the insured/secured element of the outstanding balance
and for the remaining amount on the probability of de-
fault of the counterparty.

Non-derivative financial assets classified as at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) include trade re-
ceivables from sales contracts with provisional pricing
and investment funds because the contractual cash
flows do not represent solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. Further-
more, this measurement category includes portfolios of
trade receivables held with an intention to sell them.
These assets are measured at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized
in profit or loss.

Equity instruments are either measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL) or at fair value
through OCI (FVOCI). OMV decided irrevocably to
classify as investments at FVOCI the majority of its
non-listed equity investments which are held for strate-
gic purposes and not trading. Gains and losses on eg-
uity investments measured at FVOCI are never recy-
cled to profit or loss and they are not subject to impair-
ment assessment. Dividends are recognized in profit or
loss unless they represent a recovery of a part of the
cost of an investment.

OMYV derecognizes a financial asset when the contrac-
tual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
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the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to an-
other party.

Significant estimates and judgements: Fair value
and recoverability of financial assets

The management is periodically assessing the re-
ceivable related to expenditure recoverable from the
Romanian State related to obligations for decommis-
sioning and restoration costs in OMV Petrom SA.
The assessment process is considering inter alia the
history of amounts claimed, documentation process
related requirements, potential litigation or arbitration
proceedings.

Details on the valuation of the investments meas-
ured at fair value through profit or loss in the gas
field Yuzhno Russkoye and the contractual position
towards Gazprom with regard to the reserve redeter-
mination can be found in section 1 of this note.

n) Derivative financial instruments and hedge ac-
counting

Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge risks
resulting from changes in currency exchange rates,
commodity prices and interest rates. Derivative instru-
ments are recognized at fair value. Unrealized gains
and losses are recognized as income or expense, ex-
cept where hedge accounting according to IFRS 9 is
applied.

Those derivatives qualifying and designated as hedges
are either

a fair value hedge when hedging exposure to
changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or li-
ability,

a cash flow hedge when hedging exposure to varia-
bility in cash flows that is attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or
a highly probable forecast transaction, or

a net investment hedge when hedging the foreign
exchange risk in a net investment in a foreign oper-
ation.

For cash flow hedges, the effective part of the changes
in fair value is recognized in other comprehensive in-
come, while the ineffective part is recognized immedi-
ately in the income statement. Where the hedging of
cash flows results in the recognition of a non-financial
asset or liability, the carrying value of that item will be
adjusted for the accumulated gains or losses recog-
nized directly in OCI.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are ac-
counted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or
loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective
portion of the hedge is recognised in OCI and accumu-
lated in the reserve for currency translation differences.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is rec-
ognised immediately in profit or loss. Gains and losses
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss
when the foreign operation is disposed of or sold.

The Group applies hedge accounting to hedges which
are affected by the interest rate benchmark reform. For
the purpose of evaluating whether there is an economic
relationship between the hedged items and the hedging
instruments, the Group assumes that the benchmark
interest rate is not altered as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform.

Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items that can be
settled net in cash or another financial instrument are
accounted for as financial instruments and measured at
fair value. Associated gains or losses are recognized in
profit or loss. However, contracts that are entered into
and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or
delivery of non-financial items in accordance with the
Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage require-
ments are not accounted for as derivative financial in-
struments, but as executory contracts.

0) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualified assets are capi-
talized until these assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other costs of borrowing
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

p) Government grants

Government grants are recognized as income or de-
ducted from the carrying amount of the related assets,
where it is reasonable to expect that the granting condi-
tions will be met and that the grants will be received.

g) Inventories

Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Costs incurred are generally deter-
mined based on the individual costs for not inter-
changeable goods, the average price method for oil
and gas inventories or the FIFO method for chemical
products. Costs of production comprise directly attribut-
able costs as well as fixed and variable indirect material
and production overhead costs. Production-related ad-
ministrative costs, the costs of company pension
schemes and voluntary employee benefits are also in-
cluded in the cost of production. In refineries, a carrying
capacity approach is applied according to which the
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production costs are allocated to product groups on the
basis of their relative market values at the end of the
period.

r) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances,
bank accounts and highly liquid short-term investments
with low realization risk, i.e. negligible short-term ex-
change and interest risks. The maximum maturity at the
time of acquisition for such investments is three
months.

s) Provisions

A provision is recorded for present obligations against
third parties when it is probable that an obligation will
occur and the settlement amount can be estimated reli-
ably. Provisions for individual obligations are based on
the best estimate of the amount necessary to settle the
obligation, discounted to the present value in the case
of long-term obligations.

Decommissioning and environmental obligations:
The Group’s core activities regularly lead to obligations
related to dismantling and removal, asset retirement
and soil remediation activities. These decommissioning
and restoration obligations are principally of material
importance in the E&P segment (oil and gas wells, sur-
face facilities) and in connection with filling stations on
third-party property. At the time the obligation arises, it
is provided for in full by recognizing the present value
of future decommissioning and restoration expenses as
a liability. An equivalent amount is capitalized as part of
the carrying amount of long-lived assets. Any such obli-
gation is calculated on the basis of best estimates. The
unwinding of discounting leads to interest expense or
income (in case of a negative discount rate) and ac-
cordingly to increased or decreased obligations at each
statement of financial position date until decommission-
ing or restoration. For other environmental risks and
measures, provisions are recognized if such obligations
are probable and the amount of the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Significant estimates and judgements: Decom-
missioning provisions

The most significant decommissioning obligations of
the Group are related to the plugging of wells, the
abandonment of facilities and the removal and dis-
posal of offshore installations. The majority of these
activities are planned to occur many years into the
future, while decommissioning technologies, costs,
regulations and public expectations are constantly
changing. Estimates of future restoration costs are
based on reports prepared by Group engineers or
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by partner companies and on past experience. Any
significant downward changes in the expected future
costs or postponement in the future affect both the
provision and the related asset, to the extent that
there is sufficient carrying amount. Otherwise the
provision is reversed to income. Significant upward
revisions trigger the assessment of the recoverability
of the underlying asset.

Provisions for decommissioning and restoration
costs require estimates of discount and inflation
rates, which have material effects on the amounts of
the provision. The assumptions used are disclosed
in Note 23 — Provisions.

Pensions and similar obligations: OMV has both de-
fined contribution and defined benefit pension plans. In
the case of defined contribution plans, OMV has no
obligations beyond payment of the agreed premiums,
and no provision is therefore recognized. The reported
expense corresponds to the contributions payable for
the period.

In contrast, participants in defined benefit plans are
entitled to pensions at certain levels and are generally
based on years of service and the employee’s average
compensation. These defined benefit plans expose the
Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, interest
rate risk, inflation risk (as a result of indexation of pen-
sion) and market risk. Defined benefit pension obliga-
tions are accounted for by recognizing provisions for
pensions.

Employees of Austrian Group companies whose ser-
vice began before December 31, 2002 are entitled to
severance payments upon termination of employment
or upon reaching the normal retirement age. The enti-
tlements depend on years of service and final compen-
sation levels. Entitlements to severance payments for
employees whose service began after December 31,
2002, are covered by defined contribution plans. Simi-
lar obligations as entitlement to severance payments
also exist in other countries, where the Group provides
employment.

Employees in Austria and Germany are entitled to jubi-
lee payments after completion of a given number of
years of service. These plans are non-contributory and
unfunded.

Provisions for pensions, severance payments and jubi-
lee payments are calculated using the projected unit
credit method, which divides the costs of the estimated
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benefit entittements over the whole period of employ-
ment and thus takes future increases in remuneration
into account. Actuarial gains and losses for defined
benefit pension and severance payment obligations are
recognized in full in the period in which they occur in
other comprehensive income. Such actuarial gains and
losses are not reclassified to profit or loss in subse-
guent periods. Actuarial gains and losses on obliga-
tions for jubilee payments are recognized in profit or
loss. Net interest expense is calculated on the basis of
the net defined benefit obligation and disclosed as part
of the financial result. Differences between the return
on plan assets and interest income on plan assets in-
cluded in the net interest expense is recognized in
other comprehensive income.

Provisions for voluntary and mandatory separations un-
der restructuring programs are recognized if a detailed
plan has been approved by management and commu-
nicated to those affected prior to the statement of finan-
cial position date and an irrevocable commitment is
thereby established. Expenses related to such restruc-
turing programs are included in the line Other operating
expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement. Vol-
untary modifications to employees’ remuneration ar-
rangements are recognized on the basis of the ex-
pected number of employees accepting the employing
company’s offer. Provisions for obligations related to in-
dividual separation agreements which lead to fixed pay-
ments over a defined period of time are recognized at
the present value of the obligation.

Significant estimates and judgements: Pensions
and similar obligations

The projected unit credit method calculation of provi-
sions for pensions, severance and jubilee entitle-
ments requires estimates of discount rates, future in-
creases in salaries and future increases in pensions.
For current actuarial assumptions for calculating ex-
pected defined benefit entittements and their sensi-
tivity analysis see Note 23 — Provisions.

The biometrical basis for the calculation of provi-
sions for pensions, severance and jubilee entitle-
ments of Austrian Group companies is provided by
AVO 2018 P — Rechnungsgrundlagen fiir die Pen-
sionsversicherung (Biometric Tables for Pension In-
surance) — Pagler & Pagler, using the variant for sal-
aried employees. In other countries, similar actuarial
parameters are used. Employee turnover was com-
puted based on age or years of service, respec-
tively. The expected retirement age used for calcula-
tions is based on the relevant country’s legislation.

Provision for onerous contracts are recognized for
contracts in which the unavoidable costs of meeting a
contractual obligation exceed the economic benefits ex-
pected to be received under the contract. These provi-
sions are measured at the lower amount of the cost of
fulfilling the contract and any potential penalties or
compensation arising in the event of non-performance.

Significant estimates and judgements: Provi-
sions for onerous contracts

OMV concluded in the past several long-term, non-
cancellable contracts that became onerous due to
negative developments of market conditions. This
led to the recognition of onerous contract provisions
in the Group'’s financial statements for the unavoida-
ble costs of meeting the contract obligations.

The estimates used for calculating the positive con-
tributions that partly cover the fixed costs were
based on external sources and management expec-
tations. For more details see Note 23 — Provisions.

Emission allowances received free of chargefrom
governmental authorities (EU Emissions Trading
Scheme for greenhouse gas emissions allowances), re-
duce financial obligations related to CO, emissions;
provisions are recognized only for shortfalls (see Note
23 — Provisions).

t) Non-derivative financial liabilities

Liabilities are carried at amortized cost, with the excep-
tion of derivative financial instruments, which are recog-
nized at fair value. Long-term liabilities are discounted
using the effective interest rate method.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a fi-
nancial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The
liability is initially measured at fair value and subse-
guently measured at the higher of the amount of the
loss allowance determined according to the expected
credit losses model and the amount initially recognized
less the cumulative income recognized according to
IFRS 15.

u) Taxes on income and deferred taxes

In addition to corporate income taxes and trade earn-
ings taxes, typical E&P taxes from oil and gas produc-
tion like the country’s/national oil company’s profit
share for certain EPSAs (see 2.2f) are disclosed as in-
come taxes. Deferred taxes are recognized for tempo-
rary differences.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

Significant estimates and judgements: Recover-
ability of deferred tax assets

The recognition of deferred tax assets requires an
assessment of when those assets are likely to re-
verse, and an evaluation as to whether or not there
will be sufficient taxable profits available to offset the
assets when they reverse. This assessment of re-
coverability requires assumptions regarding future
taxable profits and is therefore uncertain. In OMV,
this assessment is based on detailed tax plannings
which covers in E&P entities the life span of field
and a five year period in the other entities.

Changes in the assumptions regarding future taxa-
ble profits can lead to an increase or decrease of the
amount of deferred tax assets recognized which has
an impact on the net income in the period in which
the change occurs.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities at Group level are
shown net, when there is a right of set-off and the taxes
relate to matters subject to the same tax jurisdiction.

V) Long Term Incentive (LTI) Plans and Equity De-
ferral

The fair value of share-based compensation expense
arising from the Long-term Incentive Plan (LTIP) —
OMV’s main equity settled plan — is estimated using a
model which is based on the expected target achieve-
ments and the expected share prices. For cash-settled
awards, a provision based on the fair value of the
amount payable is built up over the vesting period, so
that by the end of the vesting period the fair value of
the bonus shares to be granted is fully provided for.
The provision is remeasured at the end of each report-
ing period up to the date of settlement, with any
changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. For
share settled awards, the grant date fair value is recog-
nized as an expense (including income tax), with a cor-
responding increase in equity, over the vesting period
of the awards. The amount recognized as expense is
adjusted to subsequent changes in parameters other
than market parameters. In addition, the Equity Deferral
part of the annual bonus is settled in shares. Accord-
ingly, the related expense is recognized against equity.
For share-based awards, the award is settled net of tax
to the participants.

w) Fair value measurement

The fair value is the amount for which an asset or liabil-
ity could be transferred at the measurement date,
based on the assumption that such transfers take place
between participants in principal markets and, where
applicable, taking highest and best use into account.

Fair values are determined according to the following
hierarchy:
Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities. For OMV Group this
category will, in most cases, only be
relevant for securities, bonds, investment
funds and futures contracts.

Level 2:  Valuation technique using directly or
indirectly observables inputs. In order to
determine the fair value for financial
instruments within Level 2, usually forward
prices of crude oil or natural gas, interest
rates and foreign exchange rates are used
as inputs to the valuation model. In addition
counterparty credit risk as well as volatility
indicators, if applicable, are taken into
account.

Valuation techniques such as discounted
cash flow models using significant
unobservable inputs (e.g. long-term price
assumptions and reserves estimates).

x) Foreign currency translation

Monetary foreign currency balances are measured at
closing rates, and exchange gains and losses accrued
at statement of financial position date are recognized in
the income statement.

The financial statements of Group companies with
functional currencies different from the Group’s presen-
tation currency are translated using the closing rate
method. Differences arising from statement of financial
position items translated at closing rates are disclosed
in other comprehensive income. Income statement
items are translated at average rates for the period.
The use of average rates for the income statement cre-
ates additional differences compared to the application
of the closing rates in the statement of financial position
which are directly adjusted in other comprehensive in-
come.
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The main rates applied in translating currencies to EUR
were as follows:

Foreign currency translation

2022 2021

Statement of Statement of

financial financial
position date Average position date Average
Bulgarian lev (BGN) 1.956 1.956 1.956 1.956
Czech crown (CZK) 24.116 24.566 24.858 25.641
Hungarian forint (HUF) 400.870 391.290 369.190 358.520
New Zealand dollar (NZD) 1.680 1.658 1.658 1.672
Norwegian krone (NOK) 10.514 10.103 9.989 10.163
Romanian leu (RON) 4.950 4.931 4.949 4.922
Swedish krona (SEK) 11.122 10.630 10.250 10.147
US dollar (USD) 1.067 1.053 1.133 1.183

3) Changes in accounting policies The amendments did not have any material impact on
The Group has adopted the following amendments to OMV'’s group financial statements.
standards from January 1, 2022:
4) New and revised standards not yet mandatory
Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: OMYV has not applied the following new or revised

Reference to the Conceptual Framework IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.
Amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equip- They are not expected to have any material effects on
ment: Proceeds before intended use the Group’s financial statements. EU endorsement is
Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts - Cost still pending in some cases.

of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-

2020

Standards and amendments IASB effective date

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and Amendments to IFRS 17 January 1, 2023
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies January 1, 2023
Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates January 1, 2023

Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction January 1, 2023

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-Current January 1, 2024
Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback January 1, 2024
Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants January 1, 2024
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Changes in group structure

A full list of OMV investments as well as changes in
consolidated group can be found in Note 38 — Direct
and indirect investments of OMV Aktiengesellschaft.
Major changes in consolidated Group are described be-
low.

Chemicals & Materials

On June 3, 2022, Borouge PLC has successfully listed
on ADX, the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange. Following
the IPO (Initial Public Offering), the shareholding in
Borouge PLC has changed to Borealis owning a 36%
stake in Borouge PLC and Abu Dhabi National Oil
Company owning 54% respectively. For details refer

to Note 16 — Equity-accounted investments.

Based on the final offer price of AED 2.45 per share,
the IPO has raised gross proceeds of EUR 1.9 bn for
the offering of 10% of the company’s total issued share
capital. This transaction led to a net gain (including FX
recycling effects) of EUR 341 mn, which is part of the
line “Other operating income” in the consolidated in-
come statement.

Refining & Marketing

On May 1, 2022, OMV closed the transaction to sell its
filling station business in Germany to EG Group. The
agreed purchase price before customary closing adjust-
ments amounted to EUR 485 mn. The transaction led
to a gain of EUR 409 mn recognized in the line “Other
operating income” in the consolidated income state-
ment.

Exploration & Production

OMYV ceased to fully consolidate JSC GAZPROM
YRGM Development (YRGM) and to equity account for
0JSC Severneftegazprom (SNGP) and therefore, start-
ing March 1, 2022, the investments in SNGP and
YRGM are accounted for at fair value through profit or
loss according to IFRS 9. For further details refer

to Note 2 — Accounting policies, judgements and esti-
mates, section ‘Impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine
and related significant estimates and assumptions’.

Cash flow impact of changes in group structure
Cash flow from investing activities included inflows from
the IPO of Borouge PLC in the amount of EUR 745 mn,
shown in the line “Proceeds in relation to non-current
assets and financial assets”.

Furthermore, cash flow from investing activities
contained an inflow related to the divestment of the
filling station business in Germany in the amount of
EUR 432 mn, presented in the line “Proceeds from the
sale of subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash
disposed” and an outflow of EUR 208 mn related to the
loss of control of JISC GAZPROM YRGM Development,
included in the line “Cash disposed due to the loss of
control.” Further details are presented in the following
tables:

Cash impact from sale of subsidiaries and businesses and cash disposed due to the

loss of control

In EUR mn

Consideration received
Less cash disposed of

Net cash inflows from disposal of subsidiaries and businesses

Cash disposed due to the loss of control

Net assets of disposed subsidiaries and businesses and subsidiaries over which control has been lost

In EUR mn

Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Net assets
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Segment Reporting

Segment Reporting

Changes in segment reporting

Starting with Q1/22 the OMV Group structure was reor-
ganized, which involved the transfer of Gas Marketing
Western Europe, which includes Supply, Marketing,
Trading and Logistics, from Refining & Marketing to Ex-
ploration & Production in order to extract synergies
from the entire end-to-end gas value chain. Internal re-
porting and the relevant information provided to the
chief operating decision-maker in order to assess per-
formance and allocate resources has been updated to
reflect the current organizational structure.

Business operations and key markets

For business management purposes, OMV is divided
into three operating Business Segments: Chemicals &
Materials, Refining & Marketing, and Exploration & Pro-
duction, as well as the segment Corporate and Other
(C&O). Each segment represents a strategic unit and
operates in different markets. Each Business Segment
is managed independently. Strategic business deci-
sions are made by the Executive Board of OMV. With
the exception of C&O, the reportable segments of OMV
are the same as the operating segments.

The Chemicals & Materials (C&M) Business Segment
is one of the world’s leading providers of advanced and
circular polyolefin solutions and a European market
leader in base chemicals, fertilizers, and plastics recy-
cling.

OMV Group has a production capacity, including joint
ventures, of 7.5 mn t base chemicals, 5.9 mn t polyole-
fins, 0.4 mn t compounding and 4.3 mn t fertilizers. The
majority of production is located in Europe, with two
overseas manufacturing facilities in the United States,
one in Brazil and one in South Korea. In addition, OMV
holds minority stakes in various equity-accounted in-
vestments, the most significant ones being Borouge
(United Arab Emirates) a Borealis’ joint venture with
ADNOC that operates the largest petrochemical com-
plex in the world and the Baystar joint venture (Pasa-
dena, United States) which serves the customer base
in the North American markets and operates Port Ar-
thur Refinery with the production capacity of 0.5 mn t
OMV share.

OMV group is pursuing various initiatives in mechanical
and chemical recycling and renewable polyolefins. A
new polyethylene plant based on Borstar technology on
the site in Pasadena is currently under construction
with the target to deliver a broad range of products to
meet the growing global demand of sustainable and
high energy efficient plastic products.

The Refining & Marketing (R&M) Business Segment
refines and markets crude oil and other feedstock. It
operates the refineries Schwechat (Austria), Burghau-
sen (Germany) and Petrobrazi (Romania) with an an-
nual capacity of 17.8 mn t. In these refineries, crude oil
is processed into petroleum products, which are sold to
commercial and private customers. The activities of this
business segment also cover supply and marketing of
gas in Eastern Europe and the Group’s power business
activities, with one gas-fired power plant in Romania.

OMV has a strong position in the markets located
within the areas of its supply, serving commercial cus-
tomers, and operating a retail business of approxi-
mately 1,800 filling stations.

OMYV holds minority stakes in various equity-accounted
investments, the most significant one is the 15% partici-
pation in ADNOC Refining (United Arab Emirates) with

annual capacity of 7.1 mn t OMV share.

Exploration & Production (E&P) engages in the busi-
ness of oil and gas exploration, development and pro-
duction and focuses on the regions Central and East-
ern Europe, North Sea, Middle East and Africa and
Asia-Pacific. In addition, E&P is engaged in gas supply,
marketing, trading, and logistics in Western Europe.

Group management, financing and insurance activities
as well as certain service functions are concentrated in
the Corporate & Other (C&0O) segment.

One of the key measures of operating performance for
the Group is Clean CCS Operating Result. Total assets
include intangible assets as well as property, plant and
equipment. Sales to external customers are split up by
geographical areas on the basis of where the risk is
transferred to the customers. The net revenues of com-
modity trading activities within the scope of IFRS 9 and
hedging results are reported in the country in which the
reporting subsidiary is located. Accounting policies of
the operating segments are the same as those de-
scribed in the summary of significant accounting poli-
cies, with certain exceptions for intra-group sales and
cost allocations by the parent company, which are de-
termined in accordance with internal OMV policies.
Management is of the opinion that the transfer prices of
goods and services exchanged between segments cor-
respond to market prices. Business transactions not at-
tributable to operating segments are included in the re-
sults of the C&O segment.
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The disclosure of special items is considered appropri-
ate in order to facilitate analysis of ordinary business
performance. To reflect comparable figures, certain
items affecting the result are added back or deducted.
These items can be divided into four subcategories:
personnel restructuring, unscheduled depreciation and
write-ups, asset disposals and other. Furthermore, to
enable effective performance management in an envi-
ronment of volatile prices and comparability with peers,
the CCS effect is eliminated from the accounting result.
The CCS effect, also called inventory holding gains and

losses, is the difference between the cost of sales cal-
culated using the current cost of supply, and the cost of
sales calculated using the weighted average method
after adjusting for any changes in valuation allowances.
In volatile energy markets, measurement of the costs of
petroleum products sold based on historical values
(e.g. weighted average cost) can have distorting effects
on reported results. This performance measurement
enhances the transparency of results and is commonly
used in the oil industry. OMV, therefore, publishes this
measure in addition to the Operating Result determined
according to IFRS.

Segment reporting

In EUR mn

Sales revenues?
Intersegmental sales
Sales to third parties
Other operating income

Net income from equity-accounted invest-
ments

Depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses (incl. exploration

& appraisal)

Write-ups

Operating Result

Special items for personnel restructuring
Special items for unscheduled depreciation
and write-ups

Special items for asset disposal

Other special items

Special items

Clean Operating Result

CCS effect

Clean CCS Operating Result
Segment assets?

Additions in PPE/IA3

Equity-accounted investments*

! Including intersegmental sales

C&M

13,450

(1,181)

12,269
548

332
533

R&M

28,634

(2,818)

25,816
857

477
422

15
68

E&P

30,857

(6,661)

24,197
181

60

2022

Cc&0O

424

(407)
17
58

Total

73,365
(11,067)
62,298

1,644

869
2,474

853
660
12,281
8

(58)
(724)
(87)
(861)
11,420
(202)
11,218
21,826
3,664
7,294

Consoli-
dation

(11,067)
11,067

oMV
Group

62,298
62,298
1,644

869
2,474

853
660
12,246
8

(58)
(724)
(87)
(861)
11,385
(210)
11,175
21,826
3,664
7,294

2 Property, plant and equipment (PPE), intangible assets (IA), not including assets reclassified to assets held for sale
3 Excluding additions in assets reclassified to held for sale and additions to decommissioning assets

4 Excluding assets held for sale
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Segment reporting information of earlier periods has

been adjusted consequently to comply with IFRS 8.29.

The tables below depict the segment reporting

Segment reporting

information as restated after the reorganization and re-
ported in 2021:

In EUR mn

Sales revenues!

Intersegmental sales

Sales to third parties

Other operating income

Net income from equity-accounted
investments

Depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses (incl. exploration
& appraisal)

Write-ups

Operating Result

Special items for personnel restructuring
Special items for unscheduled depreciation
and write-ups

Special items for asset disposal
Other special items

Special items

Clean Operating Result

CCS effect

Clean CCS Operating Result
Segment assets?

Additions in PPE/IA3
Equity-accounted investments*

tIncluding intersegmental sales

2021 restated

Consoli-
dation

E&P c&o Total
14,650 376
(3,713) (361)
10,937 14

375 63

43191  (7,636)
(7,636) 7,636
35,555 —

933 =

56 600
2,401

1,538
4
5,115
30

1,297

(223)
210
1,315
6,430

(430)
5,999
21,730
2,624
6,887

2 Property, plant and equipment (PPE), intangible assets (IA), not including assets reclassified to assets held for sale
3 Excluding additions in assets reclassified to held for sale and additions to decommissioning assets

4 Not including assets held for sale
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Segment reporting
In EUR mn

2021 reported
Consoli-
R&M E&P C&O Total dation

Sales revenues! 25,928 6,712 376 44,634 (9,079)
Intrasegmental sales (2,780) (4,828) (361) (9,079) 9,079
Sales to third parties 23,148 1,884 14 35,555 —
Other operating income 274 347 63 933 —

Net income from equity-accounted invest-
ments 12 55 600

Depreciation and amortization 2,401

Impairment losses (incl. exploration
& appraisal) 1,538

Write-ups 4
Operating Result 5,115
Special items for personnel restructuring 30

Special items for unscheduled depreciation
and write-ups 713

Special items for asset disposal 7)
Other special items (204)
Special items 509
Clean Operating Result 1,431
CCS effect (430)

Clean CCS Operating Result 1,001
Segment assets? 3,989
Additions in PPE/IA3 621
Equity-accounted investments* 1,325

Including intersegmental sales

2 Property, plant and equipment (PPE), intangible assets (IA), not including assets reclassified to assets held for sale
3 Excluding additions in assets reclassified to held for sale and additions to decommissioning assets

“ Not including assets held for sale
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In 2022 special items for unscheduled depreciation
and write-ups were mainly driven by the revaluation of
the fertilizer business, partly offset by the non-cash net
impairment charges related to E&P assets. For further

details on write-ups and impairments see Note 7 — De-
preciation, amortization, impairments and write-ups.

Special items for asset disposals were related to the
sale of the German filling station business in May 2022
and the Borouge IPO on ADX (the Abu Dhabi Securi-
ties Exchange). For further details see Note 6 — Other
operating income and net income from equity-ac-
counted investments and Note 16 — Equity-accounted
investments.

Information on geographical areas

Other special items mainly consisted of non-cash val-
uation effects related to the reassessment of reserves
redetermination rights of the Yuzhno Russkoye field in
Russia and the effects of deconsolidation of the Rus-
sian entities. For further details see Note 2 — Account-
ing policies, judgements and estimates, section ‘Impact
of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and related significant
estimates and assumptions’. In addition, other special
items consisted of temporary hedging effects and the
release of a provision in the LNG business.

In EUR mn

2022

Sales to third

parties
Austria 14,911
Belgium 987
Germany 14,102
Romania 10,149 5,437
Norway 1,584 1,219
Russia® 212 —
New Zealand 598 864
United Arab Emirates 1,644 1,677
Rest of CEE* 7,548 554
Rest of Europe 7,454 1,848
Rest of the world® 3,110 2,162
Allocated 62,298 21,274
Not allocated assets — 552
Total 62,298 21,826

Segment
assets?

4,365
1,950
1,200

investments?

2021
Equity-
accounted

Equity-

Segment accounted

assets!  investments?

4,207 14

1,247 24

1,061 31

— 4,433 5,628 —

— 1,003 1,508 =
— 642 592
— 443 550
784 1,671
— 5,246 556
22 5,968 1,893
1,107 2,356 2,289
7,294 35,555 21,201
— — 529
7,294 35,555 21,730

External sales
16 5,326
45 854
31 8,499

* Property, plant and equipment (PPE), intangible assets (IA), not including assets reclassified to assets held for sale

2 Equity-accounted investments are allocated based on the seat of the registered office of the parent company, not including assets held for sale

3Sales in 2022 relate to the period before the change in the consolidation method (for further details see Note 2 - Accounting policies, judgements and estimates,
section ‘Impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and related significant estimates and assumptions’).

4 Including Turkey

5 Rest of the world: Principally Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Colombia, Cuba, Egypt, India, Libya, Malaysia, Morocco, Mexico, Nigeria, Peru,
Qatar, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, South Korea, Tunisia, United States of America and Yemen

Not allocated assets contained goodwill in amount of
EUR 342 mn (2021: EUR 322 mn) related to the cash-
generating unit ‘Middle East and Africa’ and

EUR 210 mn (2021: EUR 198 mn) related to the cash

generating unit ‘SapuraOMV’ as these CGUs are oper-
ating in more than one geographical area. In 2021, not
allocated assets also included goodwill in the amount of
EUR 9 mn related to cash generating unit ‘Refining
West'.
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Notes to the Income Statement

Sales revenues

Sales revenues
in EUR mn

2022
Revenues from contracts with customers 53,827
Revenues from fixed lease payments 18
Revenues from variable lease payments 58
Revenues from other sources? 8,396
Sales revenues 62,298

1 The increase in revenues from other sources is mainly driven by commodity trading transactions.

Revenues from contracts with customers
In EUR mn

Chemicals & Refining & Exploration & Corporate & oMV
Materials Marketing Production Other Group

2022

Crude Oil, NGL and condensates — 860 1,519 2,379
Natural gas and LNG — 2,389 17,520 19,909
Fuel, heating oil and other refining products — 16,390 — 16,390
Chemical products 12,160 54 — 12,214
Other goods and services?® 126 2,625 168 2,935
Revenues from contracts with customers 12,286 22,318 19,208 53,827

2021
Crude Oil, NGL and condensates 1,057 2,128
Natural gas and LNG 9,235 10,150
Fuel, heating oil and other refining products — 10,460
Chemical products — 10,403
Other goods and services! 1,651
Revenues from contracts with customers 34,792

 Mainly retail non-oil business and power sales in Refining & Marketing
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Other operating income and net income from equity-accounted investments

Other operating income and net income from equity-accounted investments

In EUR mn

Foreign exchange gains from operating activities
Gains from fair value changes of trading inventories
Gains from fair value changes of other derivatives

Gains on the disposal of businesses, subsidiaries, tangible and intangible assets

Residual other operating income
Other operating income

Income from equity-accounted investments
Expenses from equity-accounted investments
Net income from equity-accounted investments

Foreign exchange gains from operating activities
were mainly impacted in 2022 and 2021 by USD for-
eign exchange rate development.

Gains from fair value changes of trading invento-
ries in 2021 referred to emissions certificates held for
trading in Refining & Marketing and Chemicals & Mate-
rials (Austria and Germany).

Gains from fair value changes of other derivatives
in 2021 were related to forward contracts of emissions
certificates in Refining & Marketing and Chemicals &
Materials (Austria and Germany).

Gains on the disposal of businesses, subsidiaries,
tangible and intangible assets related mostly to gains
on the sale of the filling stations business in Germany
and gains on the Borouge PLC IPO.

On May 1, 2022 OMV closed the transaction to sell its
filling station business in Germany to EG Group. The
agreed sales price before customary closing adjust-
ments amounted to EUR 485 mn and the transaction
led to a gain of EUR 409 mn. For further details see
Note 3 — Changes in group structure.

On June 3, 2022, Borouge PLC was successfully listed
on ADX, the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange. This
transaction led to a gain of EUR 341 mn including FX
recycling effects. For further details see Note 16 — Eq-
uity-accounted investments.

2021 was mainly impacted by the gains on the sale of
Wisting oil filed in Norway of EUR 261 mn.

Residual other operating income contained mostly
compensation from the Romanian State for the sale of
natural gas and electricity at capped prices as well as
the subsidies supporting voluntary price reductions for
the sale of diesel and gasoline. These measures were
introduced via several Government Emergency Ordi-
nances in order to mitigate the consequences of the
energy crisis.

In addition, residual other operating income in 2022 in-
cluded insurance income of around EUR 200 mn re-
lated to the incident at OMV Schwechat refinery in June
2022 and storage income related to Erddl-Lagergesell-
schaft m.b.H. of EUR 34 mn.

2021 contained mostly storage income related to Erdol-
Lagergesellschaft m.b.H. (EUR 43 mn) and insurance
compensation related to 2020 process safety incident
in Borealis cracker in Sweden (EUR 34 mn).

Income from equity-accounted investments was
mainly impacted by Abu Dhabi Oil Refining Company
and Borouge investments. Expenses from equity-ac-
counted investments were predominantly stemming
from Bayport Polymers LLC. For further details see
Note 16 — Equity-accounted investments.
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Depreciation, amortization, impairments and write-ups

Impairment losses are part of the income statement line
“Depreciation, amortization, impairments and
write-ups”, except for impairment losses related to ex-
ploration and appraisal assets which are shown in

“Exploration expenses”. The following tables provide a
reconciliation to the amounts reported in the income

statement.

Depreciation, amortization, impairments (excluding exploration & appraisal) and write-ups

In EUR mn

Depreciation and amortization
Write-ups
Impairment losses (excl. exploration & appraisal)

Depreciation, amortization, impairment losses (excluding exploration & appraisal) and write-ups

Impairment losses (including exploration & appraisal)

In EUR mn

Impairment losses (excl. exploration & appraisal)
Impairment losses (exploration & appraisal)
Impairment losses (including exploration & appraisal)

Depreciation, amortization, impairments and write-ups — split per function

In EUR mn

Depreciation and amortization

attributable to exploration expenses

attributable to production and operating expenses

attributable to selling, distribution and administrative expenses

Write-ups

attributable to exploration expenses

attributable to production and operating expenses

attributable to selling, distribution and administrative expenses

Impairment losses (incl. exploration & appraisal)
attributable to exploration expenses

attributable to production and operating expenses

attributable to selling, distribution and administrative expenses

Impairments and write-ups in Chemicals & Materi-
als

In 2022, a write-up of EUR 266 mn was recognized re-
lated to the the sale of the nitrogen business unit of Bo-
realis group including fertilizer, melamine, and technical
nitrogen products. The valuation was based on a bind-
ing offer from AGROFERT, a.s. as of June 2, 2022 to
reflect the fair value less cost to sell. The binding offer
received from EuroChem in February 2022 was de-
clined in March 2022 after assessing developments re-
sulting from the war in Ukraine and related sanctions.

In 2021, impairment losses of EUR 444 mn were recog-
nized for the nitrogen business unit of Borealis Group
to reflect the fair value less cost to sell as of Decem-
ber 31, 2021. The valuation was based on the binding
offer from EuroChem for the acquisition of the disposal
group received on February 2, 2022.
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Impairments and write-ups in Refining & Marketing
In 2022, there was a net write-up of EUR 67 mn of the
ADNOC Refining and Trading CGU, mainly related to
the impairment testing triggered by the positive near-
term margin outlook for refining margins in Middle East.

In 2021, the deterioration in the margin outlook led to a
change in price assumptions and triggered impairment
testing in the ADNOC Refining and Trading CGU. This
led to an impairment of EUR 669 mn due to lower refin-
ing margins and production volumes in ADNOC Refin-

ing.

Impairments and write-ups in Exploration & Pro-
duction

In Q4/22, OMV updated its commodity price assump-
tions. Whereas the European gas prices increased for
the near and long-term, the expected production vol-
ume of some oil and gas assets in Romania decreased
due to higher expected natural decline rates and oper-
ating costs increased. These effects led to pre-tax im-
pairments of EUR 117 mn (net of write-ups) of some
development and production oil and gas assets, related
to assets in Romania, New Zealand and Austria. For
more details on price assumptions see Note 2 — Ac-
counting policies, judgements and estimates.

Exploration & Production impairments and write-ups based on impairment testing in Q4/22

In EUR mn

Country

New Zealand
Romania
Austria

In 2022 reported impairment losses attributable to ex-

ploration and appraisal (EUR 183 mn) were mainly re-
lated to unsuccessful exploration wells and exploration
licenses in Norway, New Zealand, Romania and Aus-

tralia.

Additionally, impairments in 2022 included mainly un-
successful workovers, obsolete or replaced assets in
Romania (EUR 84 mn) and a production license in
Libya (EUR 70 mn).

The planned sale of OMVs relevant operating entities in
Yemen in Q2/22 led to the reclassification to “held for
sale”, which triggered a pre-tax impairment of

EUR 48 mn. For more details please see Note 20 — As-
sets and liabilities held for sale.

After-tax
discount
rate

Valuein use
of assets
impacted

Pre-tax impair-
ments net of
write-ups

8.93%
10.28%
8.94%

(173) 881
367 1,910
(78) 1,090

In 2021 based on impairment testing EUR 111 mn of
exploration and appraisal assets were impaired, mainly
related to assets in Norway, New Zealand, Mexico and
Tunisia. Furthermore, impairment losses in 2021 in-
cluded impairments of EUR 74 mn mainly related to un-
successfull exploration wells and exploration licenses in
Australia, Norway, Romania and New Zealand.

Other impairments in 2021 were mainly related to un-
successful workovers and obsolete or replaced assets
in Romania (EUR 87 mn).

For further information related to significant judgements
and assumptions with regards to impairment testing re-
fer to Note 2 — Accounting Policies, judgements and es-
timates.
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Exploration expenses

The following financial information represents the
amounts included in the Group totals relating to explo-
ration and appraisal of oil and natural gas

Exploration for and appraisal of mineral resources

resources. All such activities are recorded within the
Exploration & Production segment.

In EUR mn

Impairment losses (exploration & appraisal)

Other exploration expenses

Exploration expenses

Total intangible assets — exploration and appraisal expenditure
incl. acquisition of unproved reserves

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in investing activities®

2022 2021
183 185
67 95
250 280

878 967
103 85
149 (169)

* Overall amount reported in 2021 represents a net cash inflow due to the sale of OMV'’s 25% stake in the Wisting oil field in Norway leading to a cash inflow of

EUR 290 mn.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses

In EUR mn

Foreign exchange losses from operating activities

Losses on disposals of businesses, subsidiaries, tangible and intangible assets

Losses from fair value changes of financial assets

Net impairment losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost 43

Personnel reduction schemes
Research and development expenses
Residual other operating expenses
Other operating expenses

Foreign exchange losses from operating activities
in 2022 and 2021 were mainly impacted by USD for-
eign exchange rate development.

Losses on disposals of businesses, subsidiaries,
tangible and intangible assets contained mostly
losses from deconsolidation of the Russian entities in
the amount of EUR 658 mn. For further details see
Note 2 — Accounting policies, judgements and esti-
mates, section ‘Impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine
and related significant estimates and assumptions’.

Losses from fair value changes of financial assets
contained losses related to asset from reserves rede-
termination rights with respect to the acquisition of in-
terests in the Yuzhno Russkoye field. For further details
see Note 2 — Accounting policies, judgements and esti-
mates, section ‘Impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine
and related significant estimates and assumptions’. In
2021, these losses related to fair value adjustments of

150

3

65
142
1,639

asset from reserves redetermination rights with respect
to Yuzhno Russkoye field (EUR 256 mn) and financial
assets from the reassessment of contingent considera-
tion from the divestment of the 30% stake in Rosebank
and OMV (U.K.) Limited (EUR 61 mn).

Net impairment losses on financial assets meas-
ured at amortized cost were mainly related to impair-
ments of receivables in Tunisia amounting to

EUR 20 mn (2021: EUR 9 mn).

Further information on personnel reduction schemes
is included in Note 10 — Personnel expenses.

Residual other operating expenses contained ex-
penses relating to various digitalization initiatives
amounting to EUR 40 mn (2021: EUR 45 mn) as well
as storage expenses related to Erddl-Lagergesellschaft
m.b.H. in amount of EUR 45 mn (2021: EUR 51 mn).
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10 Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses

In EUR mn

Wages and salaries

Costs of defined benefit plans
Costs of defined contribution plans
Personnel reduction schemes
Other employee benefits

Taxes and social contribution
Personnel expenses

Higher net expenses for personnel reduction
schemes in 2021 were mainly related to restructuring
expenses from outsourcing activities in Romania.

Share-based payments were part of other employee

Net financial result

Interest income

benefits. For further information please refer to Note
32 — Share-based payments.

Additional details on defined benefit plans are in-
cluded in Note 23 — Provisions.

In EUR mn

Cash & cash equivalents

Discounted receivables

Other financial and non-financial assets
Loans

Interest income

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents in
2022 was primarily related to interest income on RON,
USD and EUR bank deposits.

Interest income from loans included EUR 17 mn
(2021: EUR 92 mn) related to the Nord Stream 2 fi-
nancing agreement and EUR 32 mn (2021:

EUR 27 mn) related to loan agreement towards Bay-
port Polymers LLC. For further details see Note 18 — Fi-
nancial assets.
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Interest expenses

In EUR mn

Bonds

Lease liabilities

Other financial and non-financial liabilities

Provisions for decommissioning and restoration obligations

Provisions for jubilee payments, personnel reduction schemes and other employee benefits

Provisions for pensions and severance payments
Provisions for onerous contracts

Other

Interest expenses, gross

Capitalized borrowing costs

Interest expenses

For further details on bonds see Note 24 — Liabilities.

For OMV Petrom SA the unwinding expenses for de-
commissioning provision are included net of the un-
winding income for related Romanian State receiva-
bles. For further details see Note 18 — Financial assets.

Interest expenses on provisions for decommission-
ing and restoration obligations in 2022 were im-
pacted by the negative reassessment effects of receiv-
ables from the Romanian State amounting to

EUR 65 mn (2021: EUR 41 mn). The remaining part of
interest expenses on provisions for decommissioning
and restoration obligations related entirely to unwinding
effects. Both effects increased in 2022 due to the in-
crease in discount rates.

Other financial income and expense

The interest expenses on pension provisions were
netted against interest income on pension plan assets
which amounted to EUR 6 mn (2021: EUR 5 mn).

Provisions for onerous contracts included the un-
winding expenses for the Gate LNG obligation and as-
sociated transportation commitments of OMV Gas Mar-
keting & Trading GmbH. For further details see Note 23
— Provisions.

Capitalized borrowings costs applied to the carrying
value of qualifying assets were mainly related to pro-
pane dehydrogenation plant under construction at the
Borealis production site in Kallo, Belgium and construc-
tion of the ReQil and Bio-Qil plant in Austria.

In EUR mn

Carrying amount of sold trade receivables

Proceeds on sold trade receivables

Financing charges for factoring and securitization
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)

Other

Other financial income and expense

In 2022 net foreign exchange gains were predomi-

nantly impacted by USD and were partly offset by NOK.

The position Other was mainly related to impairment of
the Nord Stream 2 loan (EUR 1,004 mn) and fair value

2022
(10,857)
10,811
(46)

95
(1,393)
(1,345)

adjustment of investments in Russia (EUR 370 mn).
For further details see Note 2 — Accounting policies,
judgements and estimates, section ‘Impact of Russia’s
invasion of Ukraine and related significant estimates
and assumptions’.
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12 Taxes on income and profit

Taxes on income and profit

In EUR mn

Profit before tax
Current taxes
thereof related to previous years
Deferred taxes
Taxes on income and profit

Taxes on income and profit accounted for in other comprehensive income

In EUR mn

Deferred taxes
Current taxes

Taxes on income and profit accounted for in other comprehensive income

Changes in deferred taxes®

In EUR mn

Deferred taxes January 1

Deferred taxes December 31

Changes in deferred taxes

Deferred taxes accounted for in OCI or directly in equity

Changes in consolidated Group, exchange differences and other changes?

Deferred tax expense per income statement

The deferred taxes per income statement comprise the following elements:

Change in tax rate

Release of and allocation to valuation allowance for deferred taxes
Adjustments within loss carryforwards (not recognized in prior years, expired loss

carryforwards and other adjustments)

Reversal of temporary differences, including additions to and use of loss carryforwards

! Deferred tax balances also include deferred tax balances reclassified to held for sale.
2 In 2022 these effects were mainly related to deconsolidation of JSC GAZPROM YRGM Development (EUR 116 mn).

OMV Aktiengesellschaft forms a tax group in accord-
ance with section 9 of the Austrian Corporate Income
Tax Act 1988 (KStG), which aggregates the taxable
profits and losses of all the Group’s main subsidiaries
in Austria and possibly arising losses of one foreign
subsidiary (OMV AUSTRALIA PTY LTD).

Dividend income from domestic subsidiaries is in gen-
eral exempt from taxation in Austria. Dividends from
EU- and EEA-patrticipations as well as from subsidiar-
ies whose residence state has a comprehensive mutual
administrative assistance agreement with Austria are
exempt from taxation in Austria if certain conditions are
fulfilled. Dividends from other foreign investments that
are comparable to Austrian corporations, for which the

Group holds a 10% investment share or more for a
minimum period of one year, are also excluded from
taxation at the level of the Austrian parent company.

Change in valuation allowance of deferred taxes for the
Austrian tax group was reported in the income state-
ment, except to the extent that the deferred tax assets
arose from transactions or events which were recog-
nized outside profit or loss, i.e. in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The effective tax rate is the ratio of income tax to profit
before tax. The tables hereafter reconcile the effective
tax rate and the standard Austrian corporate income
tax rate of 25% showing the major influencing factors.
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Tax rate reconciliation

Theoretical taxes on income based on Austrian income
tax rate

Tax effect of:

Differing foreign tax rates

Non-deductible expenses

Non-taxable income and tax incentives

Income and expenses related to at-equity accounted
investments

Change in tax rate
Permanent effects within tax loss carryforwards

Tax write-downs and write-ups on investments in
subsidiaries

Change in valuation allowance for deferred taxes
Taxes related to previous years

Other

Total taxes on income and profit

2022
In EUR mn

2021
In EUR mn

2,691 1,218
2,755
612
(160)

1,270
217
(346)

(414) (200)
96 ! (©)]
) 5

(430) 32
327
60 ] 32
61

Differing foreign tax rates effects in 2022 mostly re-
late to subsidiaries operating in tax jurisdictions with

high corporate income tax rates (Norway, United Arab
Emirates and Libya). Increase in the effects related to
differing foreign tax rates as compared to 2021 was
mostly due to significant growth in profit before tax of
those subsidiaries.

Non-deductible expenses contained mainly losses
from fair value changes of financial assets, effects re-
lated to deconsolidation of JISC GAZPROM YRGM De-
velopment and permanent effects from depreciation,
depletion and amortization.

Non-taxable income and tax incentives in 2022
mainly related to non-taxble gains on the sale of the fill-
ing station business in Germany. 2021 was predomi-
nantly impacted by the gains on the sale of Wisting field
and tax incentives in Norway.

Income and expenses related to at-equity ac-
counted investments effects in 2022 were mainly re-
lated to share of profit from equity-accounted invest-
ments, gains from the sucessful listing of Borouge PLC
on ADX (the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange) and write
-up of investment in ADNOC Refining. 2021 was mainly
impacted by the share of profit from equity-accounted
investments and ADNOC Refining impairment. For fur-
ther details see Note 16 — Equity-accounted invest-
ments.

Effects related to the change in tax rate mainly re-
lated to decrease in deferred tax rate for Austrian enti-
ties. Based on the Eco Social Tax Reform Act which
was adopted by the National Parliament of Austria in
January 2022, corporate income tax rate will be de-
creased from 25% to 24% in 2023 and further to 23%
from 2024 onward.

Tax write-downs and write-ups on investments in
subsidiaries in 2022 were mainly related to the tax im-
pairment of the investment in JISC GAZPROM YRGM
Development.

Change in valuation allowance for deferred taxes
was predominately impacted by the increase in valua-
tion allowances on deferred tax assets in Austria. For
further details see Note 25 — Deferred Taxes.

Taxes related to previous years in 2022 were mainly
related to the effects on the sale of the filling stations
business in Germany and effects related to differences
between functional currency and tax currency of certain
subsidiaries.

Other effects in 2022 included EU solidarity contribu-
tion in the amount EUR 90 mn. As a direct conse-
guence to the energy crisis in Europe, regulatory
measures like price caps, subsidy schemes and the EU
solidarity contribution are being implemented in some
of the countries the OMV Group is active in. The Coun-
cil Regulation (EU) 2022/1854 introduced a solidarity
contribution, which was transposed into the local legis-
lation of the Member States by the end of 2022 and is
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applicable for 2022 and/or 2023. It represents a contri-
bution for surplus profits of companies operating in the
crude petroleum, natural gas, coal and refinery sectors
and is calculated based on the taxable profits of those
companies, as determined under national tax rules,
which are above a 20% increase of the average taxable
profits generated in the period 2018 to 2021.

Based on the legislation in Austria, it is expected that
two Austrian entities of OMV Group will be subject to
the solidarity contribution (Energy Crisis Contribution)
for the second half of 2022. Romania transposed this

Earnings Per Share

Earnings Per Share (EPS)

regulation via GEO (Government Emergency Ordi-
nance) 186/2022, approved and published in Decem-
ber 2022. This GEO will subsequently follow the Parlia-
mentary approval process, thus may be subject to
changes. Based on OMV Petrom 2022 financials and
the provisions of this Emergency Ordinance, OMV
Petrom is not subject to the EU solidarity contribution
for the fiscal year 2022, having less than 75% of its
turnover in the defined areas: extraction of crude, ex-
traction of natural gas, extraction of coal and refining
business. Also, for OMV Group entities in Germany no
solidarity contribution is expected for 2022.

In EUR mn

2022

Earnings
attributable

to stockholders
of the

parent

in EUR mn
3,634

3,634

Weighted
average
number of
shares out-
standing
326,897,763
327,136,798

Basic
Diluted

EPSin EUR

2021

Earnings
attributable

to stockholders
of the

parent

in EUR mn
2,093

2,093

Weighted
average
number of
shares out-
standing
326,854,031
327,272,727

EPS in EUR
6.40
6.40

11.12
11.11

The calculation of diluted Earnings per Share took into
account the weighted average number of shares in is-
sue following the conversion of all potentially diluting

ordinary shares. This included 239,035 (2021: 421,342)
contingently issuable bonus shares related to Long
Term Incentive Plans and the Equity Deferral.
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Notes to the Statement of Financial Position

Intangible assets

Intangible assets

In EUR mn

Development of costs
January 1

Currency translation differences
Changes in consolidated Group
Additions

Transfers

Assets held for sale

Disposals

December 31

Development of amortization
January 1

Currency translation differences
Changes in consolidated Group
Amortization

Impairments

Transfers

Assets held for sale

Disposals

December 31

Carrying amount January 1
Carrying amount December 31

Development of costs
January 1

Currency translation differences
Additions

Transfers

Assets held for sale

Disposals

December 31

Development of amortization
January 1

Currency translation differences
Amortization

Impairments

Transfers

Assets held for sale

Disposals

December 31

Carrying amount January 1
Carrying amount December 31

Concessions,
software,
licenses,
rights

Oil and gas

assets

Development with unproved
costs reserves

Goodwill

2022

1,876
36
(36)
172
(141)
27
(122)
1,811

909
25
(36)

0
179
(24)
1
(121)
934
967
878
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Changes in consolidated group in 2022 of

EUR 428 mn were related to the deconsolidation of
JSC GAZPROM YRGM Development. For details see
Note 3 — Changes in group structure and Note 2 — Ac-
counting policies, judgements and estimates, section
‘Impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and related sig-
nificant estimates and assumptions’.

Additions to intangible assets in 2022 included

EUR 37 mn (2021: EUR 33 mn) additions for internally
generated assets mainly related to capitalized develop-
ment costs.

The transfers were mainly related to the shift of Berling

project (Norway) to development assets following the fi-
nal investment decision.

Goodwill allocation

Intangible assets with a total carrying amount of

EUR 27 mn were reclassified back from assets held
for sale to intangible assets, mainly related to OMV’s
share in the Maari field in New Zealand. For details see
Note 20 — Assets and liabilities held for sale. In 2021
the intangible assets transferred to assets held for sale
amounted to EUR 74 mn, mainly related to OMV’s 25%
stake in the Norwegian oil field Wisting, which was sold
in Q4/21.

Further details on impairments and write-ups can be
found in Note 7 — Depreciation, amortization, impair-
ments and write-ups.

Goodwill arising from business combinations has been
allocated to the following CGUs and groups of CGUs,
for impairment testing:

In EUR mn

Middle East and Africa

SapuraOMV

Goodwill allocated to Exploration & Production
Refining West

Retail Slovakia

Refining Austria

Goodwill allocated to Refining & Marketing
Goodwill

In 2022, the goodwill allocated to Exploration & Produc-
tion increased due to favorable currency translation dif-
ferences.

Goodwill impairment tests based on a value in use cal-
culation have been performed and did not lead to any
impairments. For the impairment test of the goodwill al-
located to Middle East and Africa, an after-tax discount
rate of 10.47% (2021: 9.44%) and for goodwill allocated
to SapuraOMV an after-tax discount rate of 9.07%
(2021: 8.00%) was used.

An after-tax discount rate of 12.67% (2021: 12.73%) re-
lated to the goodwill allocated to Middle East and Africa

would lead to zero headroom. The increase of 1 per-
centage in the after-tax discount rate for the goodwill al-
located to SapuraOMV would led to an after-tax impair-
ment of EUR 38 mn. For details regarding changes in
price assumptions including the impact on goodwill re-
fer to Note 2 — Accounting policies, judgements and es-
timates.

For details on contractual obligations for the acquisition
of intangible assets refer to Note 15 — Property, plant
and equipment.
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including right-of-use assets

In EUR mn

Development of costs
January 1

Currency translation differences
Additions

New obligations and change in esti-
mates for decommissioning

Transfers

Assets held for sale

Disposals

December 31

Development of depreciation
January 1

Currency translation differences
Depreciation

Impairments

Transfers

Assets held for sale

Disposals

Write-ups

December 31

Carrying amount January 1
Carrying amount December 31

Oil and
gas assets
with proved
reserves

Plant and
machinery

Land and
buildings

Other
fixtures,
fittings
and
equipment

Assets
under
construction

2022

11,254
(169)
678

(21)
539
(59)
(220)
12,002

6,085

(106)
671
8

(8)

(55)

(211)

(7)
6,378
5,169
5,624

43,195
(20)
3,352

(90)
133
136

(537)
46,168

24,626
(98)
2,342
619
24
170
(505)
(327)
26,851
18,569
19,317
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Property, plant and equipment including right-of-use assets

In EUR mn

Oil

gas assets
with proved
reserves

Land and
buildings

Development of costs
January 1

Currency translation differences
Additions

New obligations and change in esti-
mates for decommissioning

Transfers

Assets held for sale

Disposals

December 31

Development of depreciation
January 1

Currency translation differences
Depreciation

Impairments

Transfers

Assets held for sale

Disposals

December 31

Carrying amount January 1
Carrying amount December 31

The transfers were mainly related to the shift of Berling
project (Norway) from intangible assets to development
assets following the final investment decision.

Property, plant and equipment with a total carrying
amount of EUR 34 mn (2021: EUR 745 mn) were trans-
ferred to assets held for sale, mainly related to OMV’s
relevant operating entities in Yemen, the Avanti retail

Contractual obligations for acquisitions

23,

1,

(335)

(107)

25,

18,

1,

(105)
15,
9,
9,

Other
fixtures,
fittings
and
equipment

and
Assets
under
construction

Plant and
machinery

2021
445

660
047

11,483
(50)
172

41,560
603
2,367

30 (303)

316
(919)
(430)

43,195

334
@

042

695
364
255
93
148
0

22,358
342
2,218
137
147
(173)
(402)
24,626
19,203
18,569

451
750
591

business in Germany and the planned sale of Borealis’
share of Rosier fertilizer business. For more details see
Note 20 — Assets and liabilities held for sale.

Further details on impairments and write-ups can be
found in Note 7 — Depreciation, amortization, impair-
ments and write-ups.

In EUR mn

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Contractual obligations

In 2022 the contractual commitments for acquisitions of
fixed assets were mainly related to activities in Explora-
tion & Production and Chemicals & Materials. The in-
crease of contractual obligations in 2022 was mainly re-
lated to commitments in Norway and Romania.

OMV as a lessee

The increase in right of use assets is mainly driven by
new leasing contracts for storage infrastructure related
to the propane dehydrogenation plant (PDH) in Kallo,
Belgium.
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Additionally, right-of-use assets included mainly leases
of filling station sites and buildings, other land, vessels,
pipelines and office buildings. In addition, OMV leases

mainly a hydrogen plant at Petrobrazi refinery in Roma-
nia, technical equipment and vehicles.

Right-of-use assets with a total carrying amount of
EUR 7 mn (2021: EUR 53 mn) were transferred to

Right-of-use assets recognized under IFRS 16

assets held for sale, mainly related to the planned sale
of the Avanti retail business in Germany and are repre-
sented in the line other movements.

Leases not yet commenced in 2022 but committed
amounted to EUR 10 mn (2021: EUR 26 mn).

In EUR mn

January 1
Additions
Depreciation
Other movements
December 31

January 1
Additions
Depreciation
Other movements
December 31

Amounts recognized in the consolidated income statement

Other

fixtures,

fittings

Plant and and
machinery equipment

Land and
buildings

2022
42
498
(35
(@)
504

2021

48
18

In EUR mn

Reported in operating result
Short-term lease expenses
thereof capitalized short-term lease expenses

Reported in net financial result
Interest expense from lease liabilities

For information on lease liabilities see Note 24 — Liabili-
ties.
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Equity-accounted investments

Material associates and joint ventures

Following the Initial Public Offering (IPO) on June 3,
2022 the shareholding in Borouge PLC (PLC) has
changed to Borealis owning a 36% stake in Borouge
PLC and Abu Dhabi National Oil Company owning 54%
respectively. The Borouge 4 project, which is currently
being executed, has not been part of the offering. It is
intended to recontribute Borouge 4 at a later point in
time. PLC is registered in Abu Dhabi and is the holding
company for its 100% interest in Abu Dhabi Polymers
Company Limited (Borouge) (ADP) and its 84.75%
interest in Borouge Pte. Ltd. (PTE). Before the IPO
OMV held a 40% stake in ADP, which also included the
Borouge 4 project, and a 50% stake in PTE. In 2022,
OMV'’s share in PTE changed, following the IPO, from
a 50% (direct) share in 2021 to a 45.76% share
(15.25% direct share and 30.51% indirect share
through PLC). For the impact on the consolidated in-
come and cash flow statement refer to Note 3 —
Changes in group structure.

As of December 31, 2022, the fair value of the Group’s
interest in PLC, which is listed on the Abu Dhabi Secu-
rities Exchange of United Arab Emirates (UAE), was
EUR 6,989 mn, based on the quoted market price
available on the stock exchange of UAE. The corre-
sponding book value of PLC was EUR 3,944 mn as of
December 31, 2022.

The “Borouge investments” (representing total
OMV share in PLC, ADP, PTE) are a leading provider
of innovative, value-creating plastic solutions for
energy, infrastructure, automotive, healthcare and
agriculture industries as well as advanced packaging
applications and also responsible for marketing and
sales of the products produced.

Due to the restructuring of the Borouge entities
triggered by the IPO in 2022 the previous control
assessment was revised. Given the fact that no Board
Reserved Matters, which are affecting all relevant
activities, can be decided without an affirmative vote of
Borealis, OMV has joint control over the three
investments. Furthermore, it was concluded that
already in previous years joint control was exercised
and therefore the presentation within this Note was
adjusted accordingly (included in below tables as ‘joint
venture’ instead of ‘associate’).

Bayport Polymers LLC, registered in Pasadena
(incorporated in Wilmington), successfully started its
operations of the new one million ton-per-year ethane
cracker at the Port Arthur Refinery and is currently
building a polyethylene unit in Pasadena with the target
to deliver a broad range of products to meet the
growing global demand of sustainable and high energy
efficient plastic products. As OMV has joint control over
Bayport Polymers LLC (50/50 share split) and rights to
the net assets, it therefore accounts the company as
joint venture.

OMV also holds a 15% (2021: 15%) interest in Abu
Dhabi Oil Refining Company, registered in Abu
Dhabi, which runs a refinery hub with integrated
petrochemicals. According to the contractual
agreement between the shareholders, OMV has strong
participation rights which represent significant influence
as per IAS 28 definition. In 2022, a net write-up of

EUR 67 mn was recognized in ADNOC Refining and
Trading CGU (in 2021 impairment of EUR 669 mn). For
further details please refer to Note 7 — Depreciation,
amortization, impairments and write-ups.
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The tables below contain summarized financial infor-
mation for the material associates and joint ventures.

Statement of comprehensive income
In EUR mn

2022 2021
Joint Joint

Associate Ventures Associate Ventures
Abu Dhabi

Polymers

Abu Dhabi Bayport Abu Dhabi Company Bayport
Oil Refining Borouge Polymers Oil Refining Limited Polymers

Company investments LLC Company (Borouge)* LLC
Sales revenue 36,241 12,027 601 21,760 4,630 588
Net income for the year 2,054 1,055 (116) (233) 1,139 73
Other comprehensive income 2 20 — — 1 —
Total comprehensive income 2,056 1,075 (116) (233) 1,140 73

_Group s share of comprehensive 308 407 (58) 35) 456 36
income

*Included 40% stake in the Borouge 4 project, which was transferred in 2022 to the newly founded company Borouge 4 LLC (included in 2022 in individually im-
material joint ventures)

Statement of financial position
In EUR mn

2022 2021
Joint Joint
Associate Ventures Associate Ventures
Abu Dhabi
Polymers
Abu Dhabi Bayport Abu Dhabi Company Bayport
Oil Refining Borouge Polymers | Oil Refining Limited  Polymers
Company investments LLC Company (Borouge)* LLC
Non-current assets 17,084 6,901 4,002 17,905 6,696 3,379
Current assets 3,888 3,924 194 2,979 1,826 163
Non-current liabilities 6,363 4,107 2,635 6,100 3,603 1,913
Current liabilities 628 2,021 166 1,093 558 206
Equity 13,982 4,698 1,396 13,691 4,361 1,423
Group’s share 2,097 1,704 698 2,054 1,744 711
Goodwill — 2,058 — — 1,917 —
OMV Group adjustments (573) 268 (24) (873) 400 (23)
Carrying amount of investment 1,524 4,030 674 1,181 4,061 688

* Included 40% stake in the Borouge 4 project, which was transferred in 2022 to the newly founded Borouge 4 LLC (included in 2022 in individually immaterial joint
ventures)
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Carrying amount reconciliation

In EUR mn

Associate

Abu Dhabi
Oil Refining
Company

January 1 1,181
Currency translation differences 83
Transfer? —
Net income 308
Other comprehensive income 0
Dividends distributed (116)
Write-up (Impairment) 67
Other changes —
December 31 1,524

2022

Ventures

Borouge Polymers
investments

4,061 688

4,030 674

2021

Joint
Ventures
Abu Dhabi
Polymers
Company
Limited
(Borouge)*

Joint
Associate

Abu Dhabi
Oil Refining
Company

Bayport Bayport

Polymers
LLC

LLC
1,747 5,062 620
248 138 419 53
337 —
400 (35) 456 36
7 — 0 —
(592) — (1,876) (22)
— (669) — —
(430) — — — —
1,181 4,061 688

*Included 40% stake in the Borouge 4 project, which was transferred in 2022 to newly founded Borouge 4 LLC (included in 2022 in individually immaterial joint

ventures)

2 Mainly comprises the transfer of the direct share in PTE, which is part of “Borouge investments” and therefore included in material joint ventures from 2022 on-

wards

2 Refers to the partial disposal of ADP and PTE as a result of ADX listing in 2022. For details refer to the description above.

Individually immaterial associates and joint ven-
tures

OMV holds 55.6% (2021: 55.6%) of Erddl-Lagerge-
sellschaft m.b.H (ELG), registered in Lannach, which
is holding the major part of the emergency stock of
crude and petroleum products in Austria. In spite of
holding the majority of voting rights in the general as-
sembly, OMV does not have control over ELG. The sig-
nificant decisions on the financial and operating policies
are delegated to the standing shareholder's committee
in which a quorum of two thirds of the share capital is
required for decisions.

Since March 2022, OMV has 40% interest through Bo-
realis in Borouge 4 LLC, registered in Abu Dhabi. The
company executes the ongoing Borouge 4 project by
developing an ethane-based steam cracker, two poly-
olefin plants, a 1-Hexene unit, a cross-linked polyeth-
ylene plant (XPLE) and an in-depth study for carbon
capture unit. It was previously part of the 40% direct in-
terest in ADP but scoped out of the IPO in June 2022,
as described above, and therefore transferred to this
newly founded company. However, it is intended to re-
contribute Borouge 4 at a later point. Given the fact that
no Board Reserved Matters, which are affecting all rel-
evant activities can be decided without an affirmative
vote by Borealis, OMV has joint control over Borouge 4
LLC and accounts for it as joint venture.

OMYV exercises joint control over Abu Dhabi Petro-
leum Investments LLC (ADPINV, OMV'’s interest 25%,
2021: 25%), registered in Abu Dhabi, and Pak-Arab
Refinery Limited (PARCO; indirect interest of OMV
amounts to 10%, 2021: 10%), registered in Karachi,
and accounts both investments at-equity. ADPINV is a
holding company for its 40% interest in PARCO. As
unanimous consent of the parties is required for deci-
sions about relevant activities and OMV has rights to
the net assets based on the legal structure, OMV clas-
sified the companies as joint ventures according to
IFRS 11.

In June 2021, OMV subscribed through Borealis to a
new share issue, thus acquiring 10% in Renasci N.V.,
a company incorporated in Belgium. On November 9,
2022 as a result of the debt conversion into newly is-
sued shares, OMV has increased its stake in Renasci
N.V. from 10% to 27.42%. The nominal amount of the
loan converted was EUR 24 mn. Renasci N.V. is princi-
pally engaged in the development of the proprietary
processes and know-how about various technologies
regarding waste treatment and recycling. Through the
shareholder agreement, Borealis is guaranteed two
seats on the board of Renasci N.V. and participates in
major significant financial and operating decisions. The
Group has therefore determined that it has significant
influence over this entity. Therefore, the investment is
accounted for as an associated company.
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Furthermore, OMV has a 10% interest (2021: 10%) in
Pearl Petroleum Company Limited, registered in Road
Town, British Virgin Islands, which is involved in explo-
ration and production of hydrocarbons in the Kurdistan
Region of Irag. According to the contractual agreement
between OMV and Pearl Petroleum Company Limited
(Pearl), OMV has significant influence within the mean-
ing of IAS 28, as unanimous consent is required for

some strategic decisions. Therefore, Pearl is accounted
for using the equity method although OMV's share is
just 10%.

For further details, please refer to Note 38 — Direct and
indirect investments of OMV Aktiengesellschaft.

Statement of comprehensive income for individually immaterial associates and joint ventures — Group’s share!

In EUR mn

Sales revenue

Net income for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

2022
Associates  Joint ventures Associates  Joint ventures
5,889 461 3,314 5,516

189 30 86 58

0 ) — 1

190 27 86 58

2021

! The presentation within this table was adjusted for 2021 due to control re-assessment for PTE: included as ‘joint venture’ instead of ‘associate’

Carrying amount reconciliation for individually immaterial associates and joint ventures?

In EUR mn

January 1

Currency translation differences
Changes in consolidated group®
Transfer?

Additions and other changes
Net income

Other comprehensive income
Disposals and other changes
Dividends distributed
December 31

2022
Associates?  Joint ventures Associates?  Joint ventures
541 416 501 391
(8) (13) 33 24
(89) — 25 (15)
— (337) — —
24 409° — —
189 30 86 58
0 ) — 1
(2) — (55) —
(88) (5) (50)
568 498 541

2021

! The presentation within this table was adjusted for 2021 due to control re-assessment for PTE: included as ‘joint venture’ instead of ‘associate’

2 Includes associated companies accounted at-cost

3 Changes in consolidated group represent the deconsolidation of OJSC Severneftegazprom. For further details refer to Note 2 — Accounting policies, judgements
and estimates, section ‘Impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and related significant estimates and assumptions’.
4 Mainly comprises the transfer of the direct share in PTE, which is part of “Borouge investments” and therefore included in material joint ventures from 2022 on-

wards (for details refer to the description above).
5 Refers mainly to the capital contribution to Borouge 4 LLC
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Inventories

Inventories

In EUR mn

Crude oil

Natural gas

Other raw materials

Work in progress

Finished petroleum products
Other finished products*
Inventories

2022
824
936
677
231

1,112

1,053

4,834

! The balance of other finished products is mainly attributable to the finished products of Borealis Group, i.e. polyolefins and base chemicals.

Purchases (net of inventory variation)

In EUR mn

Costs of goods and materials

Inventory changes?

Write-downs to net realizable value and write-offs of inventories
Reversal of inventories write-downs

Purchases (net of inventory variation)

 Mainly related to petrochemical products

In 2022 the line ‘write-downs to net realizable value and
write-offs of inventories’ was mainly related to gas in
storage.
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18 Financial assets

Financial assets?
In EUR mn

Valued at
fair value
through other
comprehen-
sive income

Valued at fair
value
through profit
or loss

Total
carrying
amount

Valued at
amortized
cost

thereof
long-term

thereof
short-term

Trade receivables from contracts
with customers

Other trade receivables

Total trade receivables
Investments in other companies
Investment funds

Bonds

Derivatives designated and effective
as hedging instruments

Other derivatives

Loans

Other sundry financial assets
Total other financial assets
Financial assets

2022

3,351
735
4,086

52

Trade receivables from contracts with
customers

Other trade receivables

Total trade receivables
Investments in other companies
Investment funds

Bonds

Derivatives designated and effective
as hedging instruments —

Other derivatives 4,220
Loans —
Other sundry financial assets 432
Total other financial assets 4,683
Financial assets 4,941

— 17 —
— 30 —
63 63 24

= 398 312
— 4,220 3,425
2,015 2,015 115
1,703 2,135 1,272
3,781 8,879 5,148
8,041 13,397 9,667

! Excluding financial assets that were reclassified to assets held for sale, which are described in Note 20 — Assets and liabilities held for sale.

The carrying amount of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as of December 31, 2022, was
EUR 3,063 mn (2021: EUR 4,941 mn). These mainly
consisted of financial assets held for trading.

In 2021 it included also an acquired contractual position
towards Gazprom with regard to the reserves redeter-
mination in amount of EUR 432 mn in connection with
the acquisition of interests in the Yuzhno Russkoye
field. As OMV no longer expects the contractual posi-
tion towards Gazprom to be recoverable, a fair value
loss of EUR 432 mn was recognized in other operating

expenses which reduced the fair value of this position
to zero. For further details refer to Note 2 — Accounting
policies, judgements and estimates, section ‘Impact of
Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and related significant es-
timates and assumptions’.

In 2021, the position loans included drawdowns and
the related accrued interests under the financing agree-
ments for the Nord Stream 2 pipeline project in amount
of EUR 987 mn. The total outstanding amount of

EUR 1 bn including accrued interest as of

March 5, 2022, was fully impaired, negatively impacting
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the financial result. For further details refer to Note 2 —
Accounting policies, judgements and estimates, section
‘Impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and related sig-
nificant estimates and assumptions’.

The position loans in 2022 included drawdowns and
the related accrued interests under a member loan
agreement towards Bayport Polymers LLC in amount of
EUR 657 mn (2021: EUR 987 mn). During 2022 the
loan was partially repaid in amount of EUR 602 mn,
partly offset by additional drawdowns made amounting
to EUR 227 mn (2021: EUR 183 mn). For further de-
tails see Note 35 — Related Parties as well as Note 28
— Risk Management.

Other sundry financial assets included expenditure
recoverable from Romanian State amounting to

EUR 326 mn (2021: EUR 372 mn) related to obliga-
tions for decommissioning and environmental costs in
OMV Petrom SA. The receivables consisted of

EUR 318 mn (2021: EUR 352 mn) for costs relating to
decommissioning and EUR 8 mn (2021: EUR 20 mn)
for costs relating to environmental cleanup.

On March 7, 2017, OMV Aktiengesellschaft, as party in
the OMV Petrom privatization agreement, initiated arbi-
tration proceedings against the Romanian Ministry of
Environment, in accordance with the International
Chamber of Commerce Rules, regarding certain claims
unpaid by this ministry for costs incurred by OMV
Petrom relating to well decommissioning and environ-
mental remediation works, amounting to EUR 58 mn.
On July 9, 2020, the Arbitral Tribunal issued the Final
Award on the arbitration and requested the Romanian
Ministry of Environment to reimburse to OMV Petrom
almost entirely the amount claimed and related interest.
The amount of EUR 58 mn representing the principal
and the amount of EUR 17 mn representing default in-
terest were collected in 2021 and 2022, respectively.

On October 2, 2020, OMV Aktiengesellschaft, as party
in the privatization agreement, initiated arbitration pro-
ceedings against the Romanian Ministry of Environ-
ment in accordance with the International Chamber of
Commerce Rules, regarding certain claims unpaid by
the Romanian Ministry of Environment in relation to
well decommissioning and environmental restoration
obligations amounting to EUR 31 mn. On August 30,
2022, the Arbitral Tribunal issued the Final Award on
the arbitration and requested the Ministry of Environ-
ment to reimburse to OMV Petrom the amount of
EUR 31 mn and related interest. In October 2022, the
Ministry of Environment challenged the award in front
of Paris Court of Appeal, procedure which is ongoing
as of December 31, 2022.

Furthermore, in Q4/22, OMV Aktiengesellschaft, as
party in the privatization agreement, initiated two other
arbitration proceedings against the Romanian Ministry
of Environment, in accordance with the International
Chamber of Commerce Rules, regarding certain claims
unpaid by this ministry in relation to well decommission-
ing and environmental remediation works amounting to
EUR 47 mn. As of December 31, 2022, the arbitration
procedure is ongoing.

Moreover, in 2022 this position included receivables re-
lated to insurance proceeds of around EUR 200 mn
with regards to the incident at the crude distillation unit
at the Schwechat refinery in June 2022.

Additionally, other sundry financial assets contained re-
ceivables towards partners in the Exploration & Produc-
tion business as well as seller participation notes and
complementary notes in Carnuntum DAC (see Note 36
— Unconsolidated structured entities — for further de-
tails).
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Equity investments measured at FVOCI

In EUR mn

Investment
APK Pensionskasse AG
Wiener Borse AG

FSH Flughafen-Schwechat-Hydranten-Gesell-
schaft GmbH & Co OG

WAV Warme Austria VertriebsgmbH
Bockatech Ltd.

Oil Insurance Limited

Other

Equity investments measured at FVOCI

Probability of default

2022
Fair value
adjustment
through
OCl

O

Fair value

Dividend
recognized
as income

0

2021

Fair value
adjustment
through
OClI

©
©

Fair value

Dividend
recognized
as income
0

1

Risk Class 1
Risk Class 2
Risk Class 3
Risk Class 4!
Risk Class 5*
Risk Class 6

Equivalent to external credit rating

AAA, AA+, AA,
AA-, A+ A, A-
BBB+, BBB, BBB-
BB+, BB, BB-

B+, B, B-

CCcCIC

SD/D

Probability of default

2022

0.13%
0.44%
1.18%
8.52%
29.54%
100.00%

2021

0.07%
0.24%
1.21%
10.37%
10.37%
100.00%

In 2022 the previous Risk Class 4 with the equivalent external ratings B+, B, B- and CCC/C was split into two different risk classes (Risk Class 4 and 5) in order
to provide a more transparent view on the credit risk position of the group. Former Risk Class 5 became the new Risk Class 6.

For further details on the credit risk management see

Note 28 — Risk Management.

Impairments of trade receivables

In EUR mn

January 1

Amounts writte